László Nyulászi*

Department of Inorganic Chemistry, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, H-1521 Budapest, Gellért tér 4, Hungary

Received September 11, 2000

Contents

I.	Scope, Time Frame	1229
II.	Introduction	1230
III.	"A"-Type Bonding, P=C Bond in Aromatic Systems	1230
	A. Three-Membered Ring: Phosphirene Cation (5)	1230
	B. Four-Membered Rings	1230
	C. Five-Membered Rings	1231
	 Phospholide (6) and Polyphospholide Anions 	1231
	2. Heterophospholes	1231
	D. Six-Membered Rings	1233
	1. Phosphinine (3)	1233
	2. Azaphosphinines	1235
	3. Di- and Triphosphinines	1235
	4. Hexaphosphinine (P_6)	1236
	E. Azaphosphaullazine (4,9 <i>b</i> -Diaza-2- phosphacyclopental <i>c</i> . <i>d</i> lphenalene) (16)	1236
IV.	"B"- and "C"-Type Bonding, Phosphorus Lone Pair in Delocalized Aromatic Systems	1236
	A. Four-Membered Rings	1236
	B. Five-Membered Rings	1237
	1. Phosphole (4)	1237
	2. 3H-1.3-Azaphospholes	1238
	3. Polyphospholes	1238
	C. Six-Membered Rings	1239
	1. Cvclic Phosphinocarbenes	1239
	2. Cyclic Phosphinoboranes	1240
	D. Nine-Membered Rings	1240
	E. Fused Systems	1240
V.	"D"-Type Bonding	1241
	A. Comparison of the Bonding in $H_3P=CH_2$ and $HP=CH_2$	1241
	B. Four-Membered Rings	1241
	C. λ^5 -Phosphinine (33),	1242
	$1\lambda^5, 3\lambda^5, 5\lambda^5$ -Triphosphinine	
VI.	Outlook	1243
VII.	Acknowledgments	1243
VIII.	References	1243

I. Scope, Time Frame

The present work is dealing with the aromaticity of heterocycles containing phosphorus in different bonding environments. The main emphasis of the work is to show to what an extent and under what

 * To whom correspondence should be addressed. E-mail: <code>nyulaszi.inc@chem.bme.hu</code>.



Professor Nyulászi was born in Budapest and received his M.S. degree at the Technical University of Budapest. He received his doctoral degree at the same institution in 1986 and became a staff member there. In 1990 he visited the photoelectron spectroscopic research group of Professor J. M. Dyke at Southampton University for one year, and in 1997 with an Alexander von Humboldt fellowship he spent one year at the phosphorus research group of Professor Manfred Regitz in Kaiserslautern, Germany, and in the computational chemistry group of Professor Paul von Rague Schleyer in Erlangen, Germany. Since 1999 he became Head of the Inorganic Chemistry Department at the Budapest University of Technology and Economics. His research interests are primarily directed toward computational studies of structure, stability, and reactivity of maingroup-element-containing molecules.

circumstances a phosphorus-containing system can be aromatic. Aromaticity can be indicated by different criteria including experimental evidences as well as theoretical measures. Experimental data, although usually more accurate than computed results, are not always directly comparable because of the effect of different substituents or experimental techniques (e.g., X-ray structures of solids differ from geometries obtained by gas electron diffraction). Difficulties in comparison are usually much less severe in the case of theoretical calculations, provided that a uniform level of theory has been used. Thus, the main emphasis in this paper is on the theoretical results, taking care to use data obtained at the same level of the theory when comparing different systems. Wherever possible (i.e., available for comparison), experimental facts (NMR data, structures, chemical behavior) will be discussed as well. Also, the first synthesis of a given class of compounds will be given. In the case of the two most important classes of compounds, phospholes and phosphinines, some other important synthetic routes will also be mentioned. For detailed synthetic procedures, reactivity, or other details, the reader should consult with recent reviews and books.^{1a–10} This review covers the literature until the summer of 2000.

II. Introduction

Phosphorus is a group 15 element of the periodic table. It is analogous with nitrogen, perhaps the most common heteroatom in different aromatic systems (see pyridine **1** and pyrrole **2**). Another important property of phosphorus is its analogy to carbon, mainly for compounds with low-valent phosphorus. This similarity has been pointed out only recently,¹¹ although such diagonal relationships in the periodic table (Li–Mg, Be–Al, B–Si) are widely discussed in inorganic chemistry textbooks. Phosphorus has a medium electronegativity (2.1) and five valence electrons. Thus, it is able to form a large variety of covalent bonds, which are usually depicted as having different valencies^{1c} (see Scheme 1). In the "**A**"-type

Scheme 1

G =	G	P	· . P ·····
"A"	"B"	"C"	"D"
σ ² ,λ ³ -P	σ^{3},λ^{3} -P	σ ³ ,λ ⁵ -Ρ	σ ⁴ ,λ ⁵ -Ρ
e.g. H ₂ C=PH	e.g. HP(CH ₃) ₂	e.g. CH ₂ =PH=CH ₂	e.g. H ₃ P=CH ₂

case, the P=C double bond can be part of a conjugated system like phosphinine (**3**), the phosphorus analogue of **1**. In the "**B**"-type case, with the lone pair on phosphorus, a pyrrole-type system, phosphole (**4**), can be formed. While the ylidic versus ylenic character of the formally doubly bonded "**C**"- and "**D**"-type structures is disputable (see section V), this type of phosphorus, having p orbitals of proper symmetry, might be considered as a building block of π -aromatic systems. Therefore, in a study of unsaturated phosphorus cycles, several important aspects of heteroaromaticity can be covered.



The possible aromaticity of phosphorus compounds has been disputed for a long time in the literature, and even the existence of the P=C double bond has been questioned till the mid-1960s. According to the classical "double-bond rule" (which was mainly an empirical rule based on a lot of unsuccessful experiments),² no stable double bond between carbon and heavy elements can be formed. Accordingly, while pyridine (1) had been known since the end of the 19th century, the first phosphinine (3) derivative was synthesized in 1966 by Märkl.³ It was shown later that double bonds involving heavy elements are rather stable;⁴ the double-bond strength of the P=C bond amounts about 60-70% that of the C=C bond,⁵ as a result of the symmetry allowed overlap between the atomic p_z orbitals.⁶ The aromatic character of **3** was recognized soon: "Beyond any doubt λ^3 -phosphinines are Hückel aromatic systems but the character of λ^3 -phosphinines is much more sophisticated as compared to that of the pyridines" (Märkl, G.).⁷ The case of phosphole (4)—the phosphorus analogue of pyrrole (2)-was even much more complicated. Contrary to pyrrole, phospholes are not planar, due to the high inversion barrier of the tricoordinate phosphorus (cf. the 6 kcal/mol inversion barrier of ammonia with the 35 kcal/mol inversion barrier of phosphine).⁸ As a consequence, "unfortunately phospholes are not aromatic" (Mathey, F.).^{1d} Although the aromaticity of phospholes has been disputed in the past, Mislow considered first that phospholes with pyramidal phosphorus are nonaromatic while with planar tricoordinate phosphorus aromatic phospholes could be obtained.⁹ It was just recently found that phosphorus can be flattened or even fully planarized (as discussed comprehensively¹⁰), resulting in aromatic systems (see section IV.B.1).

The aromaticity of the phosphorus compounds with the "A-D" bonding type (shown in Scheme 1) will be discussed below, using structural, energetic, and magnetic criteria. The chemical reactivity—in relation to the aromatic stabilization—will be mentioned as well.

III. "A"-Type Bonding, P=C Bond in Aromatic Systems

A. Three-Membered Ring: Phosphirene Cation (5)

The phosphirene cation (5) (with two resonance structures **5a** and **5b**) has been predicted to possess a 2π aromatic system for quite some time.¹¹ The aromaticity of the corresponding cyclopropenylium cation (C₃H₃⁺) is well-known.¹² Substituted derivatives of **5**, however, have only recently been observed in solution¹³ and in complexed form.¹⁴ **5** is the global



minimum on the $C_2H_2P^+$ potential energy surface.¹⁵ The surmised aromaticity of the phosphirenium cation has clearly been shown¹⁶ by the homodesmotic reaction, eq 1, with a stabilization of 32.5 kcal/mol (G2 theory).¹⁷ The PC bonds reported in the study of Eisfeld and Regitz¹⁶ are shorter for **5** than for the 1*H*-phosphirenes, while the C=C bond lengths are somewhat longer. This behavior is in accordance with the expected aromatic character of **5**.

It is also worthy to note that the pentacarbonyltungsten complex of the phosphirenylium cation (**5**) has been recently reported, but no X-ray structure has been obtained.¹⁸ B3LYP/6-311G(d) optimization of the presumed η^1 -Cr(CO)₅ complex of **5** resulted in an η^3 -form (Figure 1) when starting from the η^1 bound chromium complex.¹⁹ Such a structure is in complete accord with a delocalized electronic structure of the cation.

B. Four-Membered Rings

Four-membered rings should be antiaromatic, and they have not been reported in uncomplexed form.



Figure 1. B3LYP/6-311G(d) optimized structure of the Cr- $(CO)_5$ complex of the phosphirenium cation.

Their discussion will be given in section V.B, together with the four-membered rings containing "**D**"-type phosphorus.

C. Five-Membered Rings

1. Phospholide (6) and Polyphospholide Anions

The synthesis, chemistry, and complexing behavior of phospholide (**6**, with **6a**, **6b**, and **6c** resonance structures) and polyphospholide anions have been reviewed recently.^{1g,j,20} The $[C_nH_nP_{5-n}]^-$ series with n = 0-4 is a complete set of structures with a successive replacement of CH units by the same heteroelement, P. The counterions are alkaline metals (e.g., $P_5^-K^+$, which, together with K₂HP₇, has been obtained from red P in refluxing DMF in a yield of 15%).²¹



Structural data of phospholide ions themselves are scarce. The lithium salt of the tetramethylphospholide ion,²² which is in fact an η^5 -complex, and the K salt of the 2,4,5-tri-*tert*-butyl-1,3-diphospholide anion²³ have been reported. Also the structure of the Li salt of the 2,5-bis(*tert*-butyl)-1,3,4-triphospholide ion has been obtained²⁴ In all these structures the bond lengths are equalized (CC, 1.396–1.424 Å; CP, 1.690–1.752 Å).

According to a semiempirical study²⁵ by Malar, the different polyphospholide anions have 86–101% aromaticities of that of the cyclopentadienide anion. Chesnut and Quin²⁶ reported on the basis of GIAO NMR calculations using a triple-valence ζ quality basis set that the phospholide anion's aromaticity is 63% that of the cyclopentadienide anion. The aromatic stabilization energy (ASE) obtained by Schleyer et al.²⁷ from eq 2 (X = P⁻) was 90% that of the cyclopentadienide anion.

$$X$$
 + X $\Rightarrow 2$ X (2)

The NICS(0)²⁸ values of the polyphospholide anions vary between -12.3 and -15.9 at the HF/6-311+ G(d,p)//B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p) level (the "method"// "METHOD" notation means that the property was calculated at the "method" level of the theory at a structure that had been optimized at the "METHOD"

level), which is 88–114% that of the cyclopentadienide anion. The NICS(0)_{π^{29}} values show a gradual decrease from the –20.6 value of cyclopentadienide anion to –17.9 (87%) (P₅H) with an increasing number of phosphorus atoms in the ring.³⁰ This behavior indicates that the replacement of the CH units by P results in small changes in the conjugative properties not only in the neutral (see section III.C.2.1) but also in the charged systems.

Phospholide ions can form metal complexes with different coordination numbers; η^5 -complexation is characteristic for their aromatic behavior. The first η^5 -complex with Mn(CO)₃ (7) was reported in 1976.³¹ The ring in some cases (e.g., in 7)³¹ is not strictly planar. In 7, the P atom is displaced by 0.041 Å from the plane of the carbon atoms. The large number of



the different phospholide and polyphospholide ring complexes with different metals can be found in reviews; as a further example, the first pentaphospholide complex (**8**) reported by Scherer et al.³² is shown, which was a triple decker. The PP bond length obtained by X-ray crystallography varies between 2.15 and 2.21 Å.^{1g} The PP distances are shorter in the "normal" double-decker sandwiches and fall between 2.08 and 2.12 Å. In an electron diffraction study of $[Fe(\eta^5-Cp^*)(\eta^5-P_5)]$, a similar value of 2.117 Å (D_{5h} symmetry) has been reported for the PP distances.³³



2. Heterophospholes

Heterophospholes are five-membered 6π -systems with one or more phosphorus atoms of "**A**"-type bonding. These have been the subject of review papers.^{1k,34–36} Here, only those works which are directly related to their aromaticity will be discussed.

1. Azaphospholes. From the planarity and bond length equalization, a significant delocalization was concluded for the different azaphospholes in reviews.^{34,35,37} Equalized bond lengths have also been reported recently for rings with two phosphorus atoms. One example is 1,2,4-azadiphosphole³⁸ and the other 1,2,3,4-diazadiphosphole. For the latter compound, 1.768 Å was reported³⁹ for the P–C bond length (X-ray structure), which is between the PC single (1.84 Å)⁴⁰ and double (1.64 Å)⁴⁰ bond lengths. For the 1,2,4-azadiphosphole, Bird⁴⁰ and bond shortening (BDSHRT)⁴¹ indices were calculated from the B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p) optimized structure. All these measures of aromaticity were slightly smaller than

those for pyrrole at the same level of the theory.³⁸ The NICS(0)²⁸ value (HF/6-311+G(d,p)//B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p)) was -12.8 for 1,2,4-azadiphosphole while -14.7 for pyrrole.³⁸

1,2-Azaphosphole 1,2-Oxaphosphole 1,2-Thiaphosphole 1,2-Selenaphosphole

1,3-Azaphosphole 1,3-Oxaphosphole 1,3-Thiaphosphole 1,3-Selenaphosphole

X, Y, Z: CH, N, P

Assessing the aromaticity of 1,3-benzazaphosphole, the ultraviolet photoelectron spectra of some alkylated derivatives have been investigated. The assigned π -bands showed a large splitting with respect to benzene and aminophosphaethene fragments, indicating significant delocalization.⁴² The π -bands of the photoelectron spectrum of 1,3-azaphosphole were located at a similar position as those of pyrrole while differing from the imidazole π -band positions.⁴³ The photoelectron spectra of some of the corresponding five-membered ring arsenic derivatives were also discussed and interpreted—together with their phosphorus analogues—in terms of delocalized and aromatic electronic structures.⁴⁴

Bond separation reaction⁴⁵ energies (HF/4-31G(d)) calculated for 1,3-azaphospholes, 1,2,4-diazaphospholes, and 1,2,3,4-triazaphospholes have shown some increasing stabilization with the increasing number of nitrogen atoms in the five-membered ring.⁴⁶ The double-bond characters calculated from the respective single- and double-bonded compounds showed significant equalization. In a comparative study, the conjugative effects of the E=C (E=C, N, and P) bonds were investigated. All the known π -ionization energies were taken for related cyclic or open-chained conjugated compounds containing the E=C bond.⁴⁷ The correlation between the π -ionization energies of the C=C- and P=C-bonded compounds was linear, with a slope of 0.974, intercept of 0.2 eV, and correlation coefficient of 0.987. This indicates that the P=C bond interacts with the rest of the π -system similarly to a C=C bond, resulting in a similar splitting of the energy levels. (In terms of Koopmans theorem,⁴⁸ the ionization energies are negatives of the orbital energies.) The same correlation between the C=C and C=N π -ionization energies has a higher slope (1.094) and a poorer correlation coefficient (0.950). The decrease of the correlation coefficient indicates that the interaction of the C=N π -energy levels (as shown by their splitting) is different from that of the C=C π -orbitals, while more similarity can be found between the P=C and C=C π -bonds.

For the complete set of aza-, diaza-, and triazaphospholes and also for 3, ring fragmentation energies (HF/4-31G(d)) were also investigated to study the stabilization achieved by incorporating an E=C (E = CH, P, and N) double bond into a cyclic delocalized ring.⁴⁷ An example of a ring fragmentation reaction for 1*H*-1,3-azaphosphole is shown in eq 3.

Taking average of the ring fragmentation energies of the C=C-bonded compounds as a reference, 98% has been obtained for the average energy of the C=P-bonded systems while 114% for the C=Nbonded compounds. The correlation between the energies of eq 3 of the different C=E double-bonded systems is poorer than that between the π -ionization energies (this might be attributed to differences of the in-plane lone pair interactions. Evidence for such interactions was found in photoelectron spectroscopic investigations.)^{45,49}

In a study of five-membered heteroaromatic systems, semihomodesmotic (SEH) reactions⁴¹ were investigated at the MP2/6-31G(d) level among others for 1,2-azaphospholes (eq 4, X = P, Y = CH, Z = NH) and 1,3-azaphospholes (eq 4, X = CH, Y = P, Z =NH).⁴¹ Although these reactions are not homodes-

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} X & ZH & HZ-Y=XH + HZ-CH=CH_2 \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & &$$

motic,⁵⁰ they include the stabilization already present in the four π -electron units at the right-hand side of the equation. It has also been shown that the average of the double-bond characters (cf. with BDSHRT)⁵¹ correlate with the aromaticity (i.e., with the aromatic stabilization). Both of these measures were similar for the 1,3-azaphosphole and pyrrole (e.g., BDSHRT, 61 for both compounds), while 1,2-azaphosphole exhibited smaller values (BDSHRT, 53).

2. Oxaphospholes. Oxaphospholes are much less investigated heterophospholes than their aza analogues,³⁴ presumably due to their lower stability, which can also be related to their lower aromaticity (see below). The first oxaphosphole reported ⁵² was a benzocondensed derivative, 1,3-benzoxaphosphole (**9**). The MP2/6-31G(d) semihomodesmotic reaction



(eq 4; Z =O) energies and BDSHRT indices for the 1,2- and 1,3-oxaphospholes⁴¹ are of similar values to those obtained for furan (9.25 kcal/mol stabilization).⁴¹ The photoelectron spectrum of 1,3-benzoxaphospholes was similar to that of the corresponding 1,3-benzazaphospholes, although the ionization energies were at higher values.⁴² The recently synthesized 1,2,4-oxadiphosphole has been assumed to be aromatic⁵³ on the basis of the calculated³⁸ planar structure. The HF/6-311+G(d,p)//B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p)

NICS(0) value (-11.0) is lower than that for the corresponding azadiphosphole (-12.8); see section III.C.2.1), similar to the differences in the furan and pyrrole NICS values (-12.3 and -14.7), respectively, at the same level of theory).³⁸ The high reactivity of the oxadiphosphole in cycloaddition reactions⁵³ is in accord with its low aromaticity.

3. Thia- and Selenaphospholes. While substituted derivatives of 1,3-thiaphosphole are known (the first benzocondensed 1,3-thiaphosphole derivative was reported by Issleib and Vollmer),⁵⁴ the unsubstituted parent compound (**10**) has been synthesized only recently.⁵⁵ On the basis of its reactivity, it has



been stated that 10 is a "highly activated aromatic ring".⁵⁵ The ¹H NMR shift for the proton in the 5 position is at 7.41 ppm,⁵⁵ which is close to the ¹H NMR signal of the α -proton of thiophene (7.35 ppm).⁵⁶ The photoelectron spectrum of an alkylated 1,3thiaphosphole derivative exhibited π -bands at similar positions to the corresponding thiophene derivative.⁵⁷ The bond separation and semihomodesmotic reaction (see eq 4, X = P, Y = CH, Z = S) energies were close to the thiophene values at the MP2/6-31G(d) level.⁴¹ The BDSHRT index for 1,3-thiaphosphole (63) was also close to the thiophene value (63).41 The 1,2thiaphosphole exhibits smaller values than the 1,3derivative, similar to the azaphospholes.⁴¹ It is worth mentioning that very recently the unsubstituted 1,2and 1,3-thiaarsoles were also reported.58

Among thiadiphospholes, the 1,2,4- and 1,3,4-thiadiphospholes were reported recently by reacting ^tBuCP with CS₂ (or with an ylidic derivative of carbon disulfide).⁵⁹ The HF/6-311+G(d,p)//B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p) NICS(0) values for the 1,2,4- and 1,3,4-thiadiphospholes were -12.4 and -12.7, respectively, matching favorably with the -13.2 value obtained for thiophene.

Selenaphospholes exhibited similar photoelectron spectra and SHE stabilization energies to the thiaphospholes.⁵⁷ The recently synthesized 1,2,4-selenaand 1,2,4-telluradiphosphole rings were complexed $(\eta^1$ at the 2 position by Cr(CO)₅ and W(CO)₅) and the structure of these compounds was obtained by X-ray crystallography.60 The planar structures showed equalized CP bond lengths (1.69-1.77 Å for the selenaphosphole and 1.70-1.79 Å for the telluraphosphole). The structure of the Se derivative was in good agreement with the calculated MP2/ 6-31G(d) geometry⁴¹ for the uncomplexed ring. B3LYP/ 6-311G(d)//B3LYP/3-21G(d) relative energies of the two possible η^1 -chromium complexes were also obtained for the unsubstituted ring. It has been shown that the η^1 -complexation on phosphorus has a minor effect on the structure only.⁶⁰

4. 1,3,2-Diazapospholium Cation (11). Although different diazaphospholes have been known for a longer amount of time (section III.C.2.1), the research of 1,3,2-diazaphospholium cation (**11**) and its possible

Table 1. Selected Bond Lengths (in Å) for 11 and Some of Its Derivatives As Obtained from X-ray Structures

R ^N P ^N R					
x	PN	NC	C=C	P-X	ref
$X = -^+; R = {}^tBu$	1.66(1)	1.376	1.330	-	64
$X = Cl; R = {}^{t}Bu$	1.66(0)	1.37(9)	1.347	2.759	63
	1.66(2)	1.38(9)			
X = Cl; R = Mes	1.67(3)	1.40(6)	1.338	2.324	67b
	1.67(5)	1.40(2)			
X = H; R =: Mes	1.70(9)	1.40(7)	1.327	1.51	67c
	1.72(2)	1.41(0)			

aromaticity became more intense after the appearance of Arduengo's carbene (**12**, E = C)⁶¹ and Denk's silylene (**10**, E = Si).⁶² (Note that P⁺ is isoelectronic



with Si.) Denk et al. reported⁶³ that the chloride of 11, which was insoluble in hexane, should be considered as an ion pair, which is stabilized by the aromaticity of the cationic system. This view was also supported by the long PCI bond (Table 1) observed in the X-ray structure.⁶³ Cowley et al.⁶⁴ synthesized **11** ($\mathbf{R} = {}^{t}\mathbf{B}\mathbf{u}$) and its arsenic analogue and reported the X-ray structures as well.⁶⁴ The delocalization was concluded from the lengthening of the P^+-N bond with respect to other $N-P^+-N$ systems, while the 1.330 Å C=C bond length is indicative of a localized double bond. The aromatic stabilization energy for 11 has been obtained from an isodesmic reaction, which considers the hydrogenation energy differences of **11** and its σ^4 , λ^5 -P-derivative of 22.97 kcal/mol (MP4/6-31G(d)//HF/6-31G(d) level).⁶⁵ Other quantum chemical investigations have also shown that 11 has a considerable aromatic character,⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷ similar to 12.68 Gudat pointed out by using experimental (Xray structures, NMR investigations) as well as theoretical means that the donation of the nitrogen lone pairs together with the σ -effects plays a more important role in the stabilization of 11 than the aromaticity.67a He also showed that the behavior of P-halogeno-1,3,2-diazaphospholenes can be well understood by considering the hyperconjugative interaction of the -N-C=C-N- unit with the P-Hal σ^* bond.67b Also, the PH bond has been found to be longer than usual in the hydride of **11** (Table 1).^{67c} With substituents on the chloride of 11 other than R = ^tBu, the PCl bond is becoming much shorter^{67b} than that in the study of Denk et al.⁶³ ($R = {}^{t}Bu$ on the chloride of 11). Important structural data of 11 and its chloride are given in Table 1.

D. Six-Membered Rings

1. Phosphinine (3)

The first phosphinine derivative was synthesized by Märkl in 1966,³ and the parent unsubstituted phosphinine itself was first reported by Ashe.⁶⁹ The



Figure 2. B3LYP-6-311+G(d,p) structure of phosphinine (**3**), with calculated bond lengths and experimental ¹H NMR chemical shifts.

spectroscopic and physicochemical investigations of the parent compound clearly indicated aromaticity.⁷⁰ The structure of phosphinine has been determined by a combined electron diffraction-microwave study and has been proven to be planar.⁷¹ The CC bond length alternation was small ($C_{\alpha}C_{\beta} = 1.413$ Å, $C_{\beta}C_{\gamma}$ = 1.384 Å) but larger than in the case of the arsenic analogue ($C_{\alpha}C_{\beta} = 1.390$ Å, $C_{\beta}C_{\gamma} = 1.401$ Å).⁷² Computationally obtained structures at different levels^{43,46,73-80} show that the CC bond length alternation is less than 0.01 Å. Frenking,⁷⁵ on the basis of a series of calculations, has challenged the experimentally obtained structure, suggesting the following bond lengths: $PC_{\alpha} = 1.737$ Å, $C_{\alpha}C_{\beta} = 1.396$ Å, $C_{\beta}C_{\gamma}$ = 1.398 Å (MP2/6-311G(d)) (see also Figure 2).⁷⁵ The CC bond lengths are very close to the benzene values, indicating a similar aromaticity. Also, the BDSHRT index is 62, close to the value obtained for benzene.⁸¹ The Bird aromaticity index calculated from experimentally available structures (of substituted derivatives) varies between 74 and 79⁸² (benzene 100). Computationally, a much higher Bird index (96) has been obtained, showing again similar aromaticity to benzene.⁸¹

The energetic measures also indicate that the aromaticity is similar to that of benzene. According to the superhomodesmotic reaction⁸³ (eq 5), the (HF/ 3-21G(*)) stabilization is 20.9 kcal/mol (88% of the benzene value) while the homodesmotic reaction (eq 6, X = P) gives 27.2 kcal/mol (MP2/6-31G*)⁷⁹ stabilization (97% of the benzene value) (24.0 kcal/mol; 97% of the benzene value at HF/6-31G(d)).⁷⁴ These

$$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} & & & & & & \\ P \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} & & & & \\ CH_2=P-CH=CH_2 \\ CH_2=CH-CH=CH_2 \end{array} \end{array} \Rightarrow \begin{array}{c} & & & & & \\ + \begin{array}{c} CH_2=P-CH=CH_2 \\ CH_2=CH-CH=CH_2 \end{array} \end{array} \Rightarrow \begin{array}{c} & & & \\ + \begin{array}{c} CH_2=P-CH=CH=CH_2 \\ CH_2=CH-CH=P-CH=CH_2 \end{array} \end{array}$$
(5)

reactions do not correct for the ring strain (which should obviously have some contribution due to the narrow bonding angle about phosphorus). In eq 7, which should partly compensate for ring strain, a 91.7 kcal/mol stabilization has been obtained for the three phosphinines.⁸⁴ The stabilization for one phosphinine unit is thus 30.6 kcal/mol (B3LYP/6-311+G**), a somewhat larger value than from eq 6. For benzene,



the corresponding reaction (eq 8; X = CH) provides 34.9 kcal/mol stabilization. The homomolecular reac-



tion of Chesnut and Davis at the BLYP/6-311G(d,p) level resulted in 36.6 kcal/mol stabilization (benzene 39.3 kcal/mol).85 Also, the magnetic properties of phosphinine are clear, indicative of its aromaticity. The NICS(0)_{tot} value is -8.1,⁸¹ while the NICS(0)_{π} is -19.1 at the HF/6-311+G**//B3LYP/6-311+G** level of the theory (84% and 93% of the benzene value, respectively).⁸¹ The NICS(1)_{tot} value is -10.8 (-11.3 for benzene). The NICS(0)tot values are more influenced by the σ contributions than NICS(1)_{tot}; thus, the latter is considered to be more characteristic for the aromaticity of the π -system. The ¹H NMR shifts are downfield from the benzene values; the largest difference (1.2 ppm) is seen in case of the α protons (8.61 ppm)⁸⁶ and is significantly smaller in the case of the $\hat{\beta}$ and γ protons (7.72 and 7.38 ppm, respectively, see Figure 2).⁸⁶ The downfield shift should be mainly accounted for by the magnetic anisotropy effect of the heteroatom. Correcting for this effect,⁷⁰ a residual 7.0 ppm shift has been obtained that is at somewhat higher field than that for benzene. The signal of the γ proton matches by 0.01 ppm that of the benzene protons.

From the investigation of all these data it is clear that the aromaticity of phosphinine is nearly equal to that of benzene. Their chemical reactivity, however, is different.^{1k,1,7} Most important is the effect of the in-plane phosphorus lone pair, which (i) is able to form a complex and (ii) can be attacked by electrophiles to form λ^5 -phosphinines. Thus, electrophilic substitution reaction on the ring carbon is impossible. In Diels–Alder reactions, phosphinines behave as dienes, providing similar products to benzene but under less forcing condition (the reaction with bis(trifluoromethyl)acetylene takes place at 100 °C with **3**, while for benzene 200 °C is required).⁸⁷

The substituent effect on the aromaticity of phosphinines has not been investigated in great detail, with the exception of the chloro group, which has been studied by photoelectron spectroscopy and quantum chemical methods.⁷⁶ Inspection of the ionization energies of some substituted phosphinines revealed that the π -ionization energies nearly match those of the corresponding benzene derivatives. Also, the chlorine separation isodesmic, eq 9, energies were of similar values with the chloro groups in different positions on phosphinine (E = P) pyridine (E = N) or benzene (E = CH).⁷⁶

While phosphinine is easily complexed η^1 -bound at the phosphorus, resulting in σ complexes, π -complex-

Aromaticity of Phosphorus Heterocycles

$$\begin{array}{c} \hline \\ E \end{array} + CH_4 \Rightarrow \\ \hline \\ E \end{array} + CH_3Cl \qquad (9)$$

es bound η^6 are also known, provided that the phosphorus lone pair is shielded by substituents at the 2 and 6 positions.^{1g,j,1} Accordingly, while bis(η^6 arsinine)chromium (**13**) has been formed by cocondensation of arsinine with chromium atoms, the corresponding phosphinine has not been obtained.⁸⁸ From 2,4,6-triphenylphosphinine, however, the Cr-(CO)₃ complex (**14**) has been reported as the first η^6 phosphinine derivative.⁸⁹



2. Azaphosphinines

Among azaphosphinines, the 1,4-derivative was reported first–although only in solution–by Märkl and Matthes. 90 The first derivative stable enough for isolation was 1,3-azaphosphinine.⁹¹ For the 1,2-azaand 1,3,2-diazaphosphinines, an efficient synthesis has been designed recently.⁹² The relative aromaticities of the 1,2- and 1,3-azaphosphinines as well as that of the 1,3,2- and 1,3,5-diazaphosphinines has been investigated subsequently computationally.⁸⁰ All structures are planar and exhibit averaged bond lengths. Some bond length contraction was also observed (with respect to the average of the single and double bonds), but no BDSHRT has been reported. On this basis, azaphosphinines were considered somewhat less aromatic than pyridine or phosphinine. Inspection of the NICS(0.5) values has also shown that the gradual replacement of the CH units by N somewhat reduces the aromaticity (HF/6-31+G-(d)//B3LYP/6-31+G(d) values are -11.5, -10.2, -8.9, -9.3, -7.5, and -8.4 for benzene, phosphinine, 1,2azaphosphinine 1,3-azaphosphinine, 1,3,2-diazaphosphinine, and 1,3,5-diazaphosphinine, respectively). The thermodynamic stability differs from the NICS-(0.5) aromaticity ordering (the 1,2-azaphosphinine, e.g., being more stable than the 1,3-isomer).

3. Di- and Triphosphinines

Among 1,4-diphosphinines, the 2,3,5,6-tetrakis-(trifluoromethyl) derivative has been synthesized,⁹³ a compound unstable even in solution. ^tBu derivatives of the 1,3-diphosphinine⁹⁴ and the symmetric triphosphinine⁹⁵ have been reported more recently. The crystal structure of the triphosphinine has been published,⁹⁶ showing that the molecule is planar and all bond lengths are equal. The 1.727 Å value is between the usual single- and double-bond length range. Photoelectron spectroscopic investigation of the two rings has also been carried out. From inspection of their assigned first π -ionization energies (8.2 eV for the 1,3,5-tri-*tert*-butyl-2,4,6-triphosphinine), it turns out that they are very close to those observed for the 1,3,5-tri-*tert*-butylbenzene and 1,3-di-*tert*butylbenzene (8.19 and 8.43 eV, respectively).⁹⁷ This indicates that the successive replacement of C=C by P=C bond does not result in a significant change of the π -orbital energies.

The homodesmotic reaction (eq 10 with X = P) energy calculated for 1,3,5-triphosphinine is 26.0 kcal/mol at the MP2/6-31G(d) level.⁷⁹

$$C_3H_3X_3 + 3CH_2 = XH \rightarrow 3CH_2 = X - CH = XH$$
 (10)

This is just slightly smaller than for benzene (28.2 kcal/mol) or for phosphinine (27.2 kcal/mol).⁷⁹ Bachrach and Magdalinos⁹⁸ noted the planarity (D_{3h} symmetry) of C₃H₃P₃. By comparing the MP2/6-31G* bond length (1.739 Å) with that of the PC bond length in phosphinine, it has also been assumed that triphosphinine is aromatic.⁹⁸

Schleyer et al. very recently⁹⁹ also investigated the stabilization and NICS of triphosphinine. For the symmetric triphosphinine and for 1,3-diphosphinine, the (HF/6-31+G(d)) NICS(0) is -5.9 and -7.2, respectively. The HF/6-311+G(d,p) NICS(1) values are -9.6 and -10.3, matching favorably with the -10.8 and -11.3 values for phosphinine and benzene, respectively.⁸⁴ This behavior indicates the rather large influence of the PC σ contributions, which die out above the ring plane. Schleyer et al. also observed that with reference to the homodesmotic eq 10, for benzene (X = CH) the variation is 2-4 kcal/mol if a CH unit is replaced by phosphorus.⁹⁹

Recently the stability of diphosphinine isomers has been investigated.¹⁰⁰ The three diphosphinines are the most stable among the possible isomers investigated by at least 20 kcal/mol. Also, from a comparison of the 1,3-diphosphinine ring isomers (including carbene and allene), the diphosphinine was the most stable isomer (in the case of the parent compounds having hydrogens on the carbon atoms).¹⁰¹ Remarkably, due to the steric repulsion of four 'Bu groups on the 1,3-diphosphinine, the structure of the ring is nonplanar and the stability of the six-membered ring allene becomes similar to that of the aromatic diphosphinine.¹⁰¹

Investigating the high Diels–Alder reactivity of phosphinines (eq 11), the transition-state energy was much smaller for X = P than for X = CH (17.8 vs 44.6 kcal/mol–MP4/6-31G*//MP2/6-31G*). Bachrach

$$X \longrightarrow X + X = C \implies X \longrightarrow X$$
(11)

and Magdalinos⁹⁸ attributed the lowering of the activation energy to the reduction of the resonance stabilization. They also noted that in Diels–Alder reactions about 10 kcal/mol reduction of the activation barriers have been observed when a CH unit has been replaced by P. (Note that the Diels–Alder reaction of bis(trifluoromethyl)acetylene with phosphinine (**4**) proceeded by 100 °C lower temperature than for benzene⁸⁷–see section III.D.1). Since the aromaticity criteria show only a small decrease between benzene and triphosphinine, the increased

Diels-Alder reactivity of the PC-bonded compounds can rather be attributed to the diminished strength of the PC bond as compared to the hydrocarbon bonding than to the decrease of the cyclic delocalization by a P=C vs C=C replacement.

4. Hexaphosphinine (P_6)

The P₆ hexagonal ring is not a minimum, and it is far from being the most stable P₆ structure.¹⁰² According to Janoschek,¹⁰³ in the homodesmotic reaction in eq 5 (when all X and CH units are replaced by P), + 8.5 kcal/mol destabilization has been obtained. P₆ is more stable, however, than 3P₂.¹⁰⁴ The calculated B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p) bond length was 2.133 Å²⁹ (2.095 Å HF/6-31G(d)), which falls between the usual value of the PP single and double bonds. The NICS-(0.5) and NICS(0.5) π values are -15.8 and -14.7, respectively, indicating a significant ring current. The destabilization in the homodesmotic reaction in eq 5 has been attributed to ring strain, which was estimated^{103,104} to be 17-22 kcal/mol, resulting in a resonance stabilization of 9-14 kcal/mol. Although P_6 has not been isolated, it has been reported in η^{6-1} complexed form. The first P_6 complex (15) reported was a triple decker.¹⁰⁵ The PP bond length for that P_6 complex varied between 2.167 and 2.175 Å).



E. Azaphosphaullazine (4,9*b*-Diaza-2-phosphacyclopenta[*c*,*d*]phenalene) (16)

While some condensed aromatic rings containing phosphorus in "**A**"-type bonding are known (e.g., dibenzo[*b*,*e*]phosphinine¹⁰⁶), perhaps as a curiosity also phosphaullazine (**16**) should be mentioned.¹⁰⁷ This compound contains the P=C bond in a 14π -electron perimeter ring, showing the capability of the P=C bond to delocalize in an annulene. The delocalized structure was concluded from the ¹H NMR signals (7.0–7.9 ppm for the ring protons), which were in the range of the phosphorus free analogue, and the mass spectrum, which exhibited a paucity of fragments as is typical for stable aromatic systems.



the system, it must be mentioned that the small bond angles typical for phosphorus will result in large ring strain, particularly for large planar ring systems. Thus, for large planar rings containing phosphorus, even more serious stability problems can be expected than for their carbon analogues.

IV. "B"- and "C"-Type Bonding, Phosphorus Lone Pair in Delocalized Aromatic Systems

Structure "**C**" is usually written with a pentavalent phosphorus;¹⁰⁸ this description, however, should merely denote that the phosphorus lone pair is delocalized and no allenic bond with two perpendicular π -systems has been formed. H₂C=P(H)=CH₂, a typical representative of structure "**C**" phosphorus, can be described by an allyl-like π -system,^{30,109,110} with the "p"-type lone pair of a planar tricoordinate phosphorus participating in the 4-electron-3-center π -bonding, without invoking d-orbital participation.¹¹¹ Thus, the "**C**"-type bonding of phosphorus involves tricoordination, with a planar bonding environment, whereby the lone pair is available for π -bonding.

As a result of the allylic bonding, the terminal carbons are negatively polarized while the central phosphorus is positively charged, in agreement with the resonance structure $CH_2^- - P^+(H) = CH_2$. Although there were some earlier indications of the good donor property of the planar phosphorus lone pair,^{9,112} Schleyer has concluded "The π -donor ability of planar tricoordinate phosphorus rivals to that of nitrogen".¹¹³ Tricoordinate phosphorus, however, is not planar; the lone pair has a significant "s" orbital character (the bond angles are $90-95^\circ$; the sum of bond angles (SBA) is, thus, about 280-290°); therefore, it is unable to overlap with a neighboring π -system. The barrier to planarization is 35 kcal/mol in PH₃,⁸ and this energy has to be invested before a conjugated π -system involving phosphorus lone pairs can form. Substituent effects on inversion barriers of ER₃ molecules (such as PH₃) are well studied; $^{114}\sigma$ -donors and $\pi\text{-}acceptors$ are planarizing. Among them, $\pi\text{-}ac\text{-}$ ceptor $-C^+R_2$,¹¹³ -CR (carbene),¹¹⁵ or BR_2 ¹¹⁶ groups should have the strongest effect. The minimization of steric strain, including the use of bulky groups on phosphorus, is also a planarizing factor. The conjugation and especially cyclic conjugation also stabilizes the planar structure.^{9,10} In the following section, the known aromatic or potentially aromatic systems with tricoordinate "B"- or "C"-type phosphorus will be discussed.

A. Four-Membered Rings

Niecke et al.¹¹⁸ reported the synthesis of the first stable 1,3-diphosphete-1,3-diyl ring (**15**) (with substituents attached to phosphorus) in 1995. The ring is planar with a CP bond length of 1.750 Å, which is close to the CP bond length in **3** (1.737 Å, see section III.C.1). The phosphorus atom is pyramidal. However, **SBA** about phosphorus is 337.9° in **17**, indicating a significant planarization of the phosphorus atom. The supermesityl (Mes*) residue on the P atom reduces the pyramidalization, as it is obvious from the comparison of the (MP2/6-31G(d,p)) calculated structure of the parent $C_2P_2H_4^{117}$ with the X-ray structure of **17**. The MP2/6-31G(d,p) optimized PC bond length for the parent ring $C_2P_2H_4^{117}$ is 1.821 Å. This is far longer than in **17**, which has less pyramidalized phosphorus. $C_2P_2H_4$ has a considerable biradicaloid character.¹¹⁷ The stabilization of the



singlet can be achieved in this system by planarization of the tricoordinate phosphorus, resulting in a "perfect cyclic π -conjugation as in disulfur-dinitride".¹¹⁷ Calculated (HF/6-311+G(d,p)//B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p)) magnetic susceptibility exaltations between the nonplanar (-41.1 ppm) and planar $C_2P_2H_4$ amounts to 7.3 ppm⁸⁴ and indicate the increase of the cyclic delocalization with the flattening of tricoordinate phosphorus. More recently, the Niecke group reported the anionic four-membered ring structure **18**.¹¹⁸ This compound can be considered as a 6π diphosphacarbene anion with the phosphorus atoms being substantially flattened (SBA 336° and 343°). The NBO analysis carried out for C₂P₂(CH₃)₂(SiH₃)⁻ gave a π population of 1.02 electrons on the formally empty p orbital of the carbenic carbon atom, indicative of extended electron delocalization.

B. Five-Membered Rings

1. Phosphole (4)

The potential aromaticity of phosphole was discussed after its first practically applicable synthesis¹¹⁹ was reported in the 1960s. From the different observations it emerged until the early 1980s, as discussed in reviews as well,^{1b,d,120-121} that phosphole is basically not aromatic. The reason of the nonaromatic behavior of phosphole, however, is not an inherent insufficient overlap between the phosphorus lone pair and the rest of the π -system but the nonplanarity at the tricoordinate phosphorus, which can immediately be recognized on the first X-ray structure published.¹²² Aromatic delocalization stabilization is obviously insufficient to overcome the significant planarization barrier of 35 kcal/mol (see above). Mislow compared the inversion barriers (obtained by dynamic NMR spectroscopy) of a phosphole (16 kcal/mol) with a saturated counterpart (phospholane, 36 kcal/mol) and attributed the ca. 20 kcal/mol lowering to the aromatic stabilization in the planar form of the unsaturated derivative.⁹ The aromaticity of the planar structure was also investigated by CNDO calculations.¹²³

The lack of aromatic delocalization of phosphole can clearly be seen in the low (12–18 kcal/mol) bond separation, eq 12, energies.^{43,46,73} Superhomodesmotic reaction (eq 13) energies are more informative, giving a stabilization of (–1.5 kcal/mol HF/3-21G(*)).⁷³ The ASE obtainable from eq 2 (X = PH) was 7 kcal/mol¹²⁴ (MP2/6-31G(d)), a rather moderate value. In the SEH eq 14, +0.43 kcal/mol has been obtained (MP2/6-31G-



Figure 3. B3LYP-6-311+G(d,p) structure of phosphole (**4**), with calculated bond lengths and experimental ¹H NMR chemical shifts.

(d)).¹²⁵ The NICS(0) value has also been quite low for phosphole (HF/6-31G(d)//MP2/6-31G(d), -5.3;²⁸ HF/ 6-311+G(d,p)//B3LYP//6-311+G(d,p), -5.0^{30}) The NICS(0) π value (-13.2) is just slightly higher than that for cyclopentadiene (-12.1).³⁰ The Bird aromaticity index calculated from the reported X-ray structure was 36.^{82,122} This value is again marginally higher than that for cyclopentadiene. The fact that aromaticity measures for phosphole are somewhat larger than for cyclopentadiene can be explained by the hyperconjugative involvement of the $\sigma_{\rm PR}$ orbital (R = alkyl, H), as suggested by Schweig et al.¹²⁶ on the basis of the analysis of the photoelectron spectra of alkyl-phospholes.

$$4 + PH_3 + 4CH_4 \rightarrow 2CH_3PH_2 + CH_3 - CH_3 + 2CH_2 = CH_2$$
(12)

$$4 + 2H_2P-CH=CH_2 + H_2C=CH-CH=CH_2 \rightarrow 2H_2P-CH=CH-CH=CH_2 + H_2C=CH-PH-CH=CH_2 + H_2C=CH-PH-CH=CH_2$$
(13)

$$4 + PH_3 + 2CH_2 = CH_2 \rightarrow 2CH_2 = CH - PH_2 + CH_2 = CH - CH = CH_2$$
(14)

The B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p) calculated structure (from the parent 4, no experimental structure is available since it could only be detected in solution) and the measured NMR data¹²⁷ of 4 are given in Figure 3.

The planar form of phosphole is a first-order saddle point on the potential energy surface, 16–24 kcal/ mol above the minimum (at different levels of the theory).^{26,30,128–129} (The calculated barriers are the highest at the HF level, which underestimates aromatic stabilization of the planar saddle point, while the MP2 results are at the low end.) It has been demonstrated by calculation of the NMR properties,²⁶ structural parameters,^{30,129} and geometric aromaticity indices as the Bird index³⁰ and the BDSHRT,³⁰ as well as the stabilization energies (with planarized phosphorus in the reference structures)^{30,125,129} and NICS values³⁰ that the planar form of phosphole has an even larger aromaticity than pyrrole or thiophene.

The planarity of the tricoordinate phosphorus and thus the aromaticity of **4** can be influenced by substituents. It turns out from ab initio calculations that π -acceptor groups either at phosphorus¹²⁹ or at the neighboring carbon have a planarizing effect. The barrier to planarity decreases to 1.56 kcal/mol (MP2/ 6-31G(d)) as a result of $-BH_2$ substitution at phosphorus. The bond length alternation in the planar form of this substituted derivative increases in the ring, indicating a decrease of the aromaticity (structure **4a***pl*).^{129,130} Also, the NICS(0) value decreases.¹³⁰



Apparently the lone pair of phosphorus is conjugated with the boron empty orbital and cannot effectively be involved in the cyclic conjugation, as demonstrated by the decrease of the NICS value.¹³¹ Two -BH₂ groups at the carbons at the 2 and 5 positions of the ring are also planarizing (8.42 kcal/mol at MP2/6-31G(d)), although to a lesser extent than at phosphorus.¹³⁰ The effect of AlH₂ and SiH groups was similar to that of the BH₂ substituent. π -Donors at the 2 and 5 positions of the ring shorten the PC distances considerably. The structural data more closely resemble $4b p \dot{l}$, ¹³⁰ which is formally written with a pentavalent phosphorus. Schmidpeter was first to consider such a **4b**pl-type structure for a benzocondensed phosphole¹³¹ on the basis of NMR data. Although it turned out later that instead of 19 a different compound must have been in the reaction mixture,132 similar structural characteristics were reported for a 1,2-diphosphole with an unambiguous X-ray structure¹³³ (see section IV.B.3). The common feature in these compounds is the presence of the electron-withdrawing R_3P^+ substituent at the carbon attached to phosphorus.

While **4b***pl*-type structures can be considered as resonance structures, **4c***pl* is also an alternative. The importance of structure **4c***pl* is supported by the fact that the negative charge at the carbon atoms in the 2 and 5 positions is indeed larger than at the 3 and 4 positions.³⁰ The common feature in all **4a***pl*-, **4b***pl*-, and **4c***pl*-type structures is that the lone pair of the planar tricoordinate phosphorus is fully delocalized, resulting in an enhanced bond order about the tricoordinate planar phosphorus. The d-orbital participation at phosphorus is insignificant in **4**, either in the planar or nonplanar form.³⁰

A further alternative to flatten phosphole was to use bulky substituents at phosphorus. The idea came from Quin and was fully exploited in a series of works with Keglevich. The di-tert-butyltolyl group at the phosphorus in phosphole did not have a large impact on the chemistry of the phosphole.¹³⁴ The photoelectron spectrum, however, indicated a small stabilization of the phosphorus lone pair with respect to the saturated counterpart of the phospholane as a sign of cyclic conjugation.¹³⁵ The supermesityl (tri-tertbutylphenyl) substituent has shown a considerably larger flattening effect at phosphorus.¹³⁶ The SBA in 1-(2,4,6-tri-*tert*-butylphenyl)-3-methylphosphole (19) was 331.7°, which is much larger than that in 1-benzylphosphole (SBA 302.7°) according to the X-ray structure.¹³⁶ As a remarkable indicator of its aromatic behavior, 19 has shown S_E reactivity.^{136,137} The Bird aromaticity index (57) exceeded that of furan and approached the pyrrole value.136 The theoretical and photoelectron spectroscopic investigation of a series of phospholes with increasing steric

bulk at the phosphorus has shown the gradual increase of the Bird and BDSHRT aromaticity indices with a decrease of the phosphorus lone pair ionization energy.¹³⁸ Also, the propensity in taking part in Diels–Alder reactions is diminishing with the increasing steric bulk on the phosphorus substituent, in accordance with the increasing aromatic stabilization, although this effect can at least partly be attributed to the protecting effect of the substituent too.¹³⁹ To date, the complete flattening of the phosphole ring (**4**) could not be achieved.

2. 3H-1,3-Azaphospholes

Azaphospholes substituted at phosphorus have different characteristics than those substituted at nitrogen (which were discussed in sections III.C.2.1 and III.C.2.4). The structural comparison of 1H-1,3azaphosphole (section III.C.2.1) with 3H-1,3-azaphosphole **20** reveals their difference. 3H-1,3-Azaphosphole is a nonplanar compound, characterized by low bond separation reaction energies similar to those in phosphole.^{43,46} The equalization of the bond lengths is small and speaks against cyclic conjugation.⁴⁴ The BDSHRT index⁴¹ is also much smaller in **20** (51) than in 1*H*-1,3-azaphosphole (62).¹⁴⁰ The photoelectron spectrum of alkyl-substituted 3H-1,3-benzazaphospholes showed closely spaced ionization energies, indicating that the energy levels were not split as observed for 1H-1,3-benzazaphospholes, where a conjugative interaction was shown to be important.44,141



Planarization of the P-substituted azaphospholes results in structures with similar aromaticity to the planar phosphole. Replacement of the CH units by N in these rings has some effect on the barrier to planarization. The MP2/6-31G(d) barrier of 2H-1,3,2-diazaphosphole was 17.6, while that of 3H-1,5,3-diazaphosphole was 13.5 kcal/mol (phosphole 17.2 kcal/mol at the same level).¹²⁹

3. Polyphospholes

In polyphospholes, the CH units of phosphole are replaced by one or more "P" units (i.e., phosphorus with "**A**"-type bonding). It has been shown that with the gradual increase of the number of the phosphorus atoms, the inversion barrier of the tricoordinate phosphorus is decreasing.^{30,125} The planarizing effect of the "**A**"-type phosphorus atoms can partly be attributed to the +I effect^{30,142} and partly to the release of the ring strain due to the narrow bonding angle about the dicoordinate "**A**"-type phosphorus.^{30,125} Pentaphosphole, P₅H, turned out to be planar computationally according to two independent studies.^{142,143} Analysis of the wave function showed close resemblance to that of thiophene. The NICS(0) value (-17.2 at HF/6-311+G(d,p)//B3LYP/6-311+G-(d,p)) and other aromaticity criteria including geom-



Figure 4. B3LYP/LANL1DZ structure of the Cr(CO)₃ complex of 1,2,4-triphosphole.

etry indices and exaltation of the magnetic susceptibility were close to those of the phospholide and polyphospholide anions.³⁰ Furthermore, all these measures of aromaticity are of similar values for the planar phosphole and planar polyphospholes, being larger than for the other five-membered heterocycles (thiophene, pyrrole).³⁰ P₅H, however, has been shown to be unstable against dimerization (and subsequent polymerization) by about 30 kcal/mol (HF/6-31G(d)).¹⁴³ This computational result is in agreement with experimental observations of Baudler et al.,¹⁴⁴ who obtained no pentaphosphole but a polymer while reacting the pentaphospholide anion with alkylhalide.

Not only the planar polyphospholes are aromatic, but the aromaticity of the nonplanar structures, which are minima on the potential energy surface, is also becoming significant with the enhancing planarity of the tricoordinate phosphorus (e.g., in triphospholes). In the MOs of the 1,2,5-triphosphole, contrary to phosphole itself, the lone pair and the π -system show considerable mixing.¹²⁵ Also, the NIČS(0), NICS(0) π , and geometry aromaticity indices are getting larger with the increasing number of "A"type phosphorus atoms in the ring.³⁰ 1-(bis(trimethylsilyl)methyl)-3,5-di-tert-butyl-1,2,4-triphosphole (SBA: 342°) has equalized bond lengths as concluded from its X-ray structure.¹⁴⁵ More interestingly, it forms an η^5 -complex with Cr(CO)₃ (for the calculated structure of 1,2,4-triphosphole with $Cr(CO)_3$ see Figure 4), $Mo(CO)_3$, and $W(CO)_3$.¹⁴⁶ The complexation results in an increased planarity at the tricoordinate phosphorus, and the ring bond lengths are further equalized, as can be concluded from the comparison of the X-ray structures of the parent system¹⁴⁵ with that of the complex.¹⁴⁵ A further example for a ring system with significantly flattened tricoordinate phosphorus comes from Schmidpeter et al.;133 1-methyl-4-phenyl-3,5-diphosphonio-1,2-diphosphole has a SBA of 339°, leading the authors to the conclusion that the cyclic 6π -system has been preserved contrary to phospholes. The planarizing effects in this compound should be attributed to the "A"-type phosphorus in the ring as well as to the $-P^+Ph_3 \pi$ -electron acceptor substituents (see section IV.B.1).

Triphospholes can even be planarized fully by using proper substituents. 1-(Bis(trimethylsilyl)methyl)-3,5-bis(trimethylsilyl)-1,2,4-triphosphole **21** (see Figure 5) was the first planar phosphole reported.¹⁴⁷ Its Bird aromaticity index is 84, BDSHRT 60.¹⁴⁷ All these



Figure 5. B3LYP/3-21G(d) structure of 1-(bistrimethylsilylmethyl)-3,5-bis-(trimethylsilyl)-1,2,4-triphosphole **21**.

values are larger than for thiophene, in agreement with the computational results obtained for the planar saddle points of the polyphosphaphospholes.³⁰ Apart from the weak π -acceptor trimethylsilyl groups (the planarizing effect of π -acceptors on phosphole¹²⁹ has been discussed in section IV.B.1), the bulky bis-(trimethylsilyl)methyl group also has an impact on the planarity of the system. It has also been shown computationally that 1-supermesityl-1,2,4-triphosphole is planar and aromatic (NICS(0) –14.7 cf. with pyrrole –15.1, all HF/3-21G(*); Bird index 83).¹⁴⁸

A further possible aromatic five-membered ring would be the phosphorus analogue of imidazol-2ylidene (**22**), an isomer of 1*H*-1,3-diphosphole. Schoeller¹⁴⁹ recently calculated the singlet-triplet gap of **22**, which was somewhat higher than that for acyclic phosphanylcarbenes. From the shortening of the PC-(carbene) bonds with respect to other phosphanylcarbenes, some cyclic delocalization has been concluded.¹⁴⁹ **22** is not planar, although the sum of bond angles (**SBA**) about phosphorus is 333.6° (B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p)),¹⁹ a sign of some delocalization in agreement with Schoeller's conclusion.¹⁴⁹



The NICS(0) value of -10.4 (HF/6-31G(d))¹⁹ is also indicative of a somewhat delocalized structure for 22. Even more interesting is that the planar form of **22**, which is a second-order transition structure, is by only 8.91 kcal/mol less stable than the minimum, despite the two tricoordinate phosphorus atoms (for the planarization of each 35 kcal/mol can be estimated). The planar **22** is highly aromatic, as can be judged from the -19.5 NICS(0) value (HF/6-31G(d)// B3LYP/6-31G(d)) and the 1.384 Å C=C distance (B3LYP/6-31G(d)), which is close to the benzene value.¹⁹ Supermesityl rests on phosphorus atoms and is planarizing, in accordance with the expectations, resulting in SBA of 350.8° (B3LYP/6-31G(d)) about P and a NICS value of -15.8¹⁹ (HF/6-31G(d)//B3LYP/ 6-31G(d)). It is likely that this carbene with the proper substituents will be synthesized in the future.

C. Six-Membered Rings

1. Cyclic Phosphinocarbenes

The vacant p orbital on a carbene center is an excellent π -acceptor and as such is planarizing on the

tricoordinate phosphorus. The resulting phosphinocarbene unit then can be incorporated into a sixmembered ring, forming a 6 π -system, phosphinine-2-ylidene (23). It has been shown computationally that 23 is planar,⁷⁸ has a singlet ground state, and exhibits equalized bonds (CC bond lengths vary between 1.378 and 1.419 Å at MP2/6-31G(d)). In the homodesmotic reaction (analogous to eq 6), 16.5 kcal/ mol stabilization has been obtained (27.1 kcal/mol for phosphinine (3)).⁷⁸ 23, however, is less stable than 3 by 74.6 kcal/mol and is unstable against dimerization by $\Delta G = -82.4$ kcal/mol (B3LYP76-311+G(2d));¹⁵⁰ thus, it is an unlikely synthetic target. Planarizing groups at phosphorus, however, might lower the dimerization energy, making 23 a possibly synthesizable molecule. 23, similar to some other phosphorus compounds such as pentaphosphole P₅H, provides an example for a system which is unstable chemically despite its aromatic electronic structure.



Carbocations have similar electronic structures to carbones. The P-protonated derivative of phosphinine should also be similar to **23**. Indeed, while investigating the proton affinity of **3**, the most preferred protonation site was phosphorus and not carbon, whereby the cyclic π system would be interrupted.¹⁵¹

2. Cyclic Phosphinoboranes

Similar to carbenes, BH2 groups are also good π -acceptors, due to the vacant p orbital on boron. In phosphinoboranes the inversion barrier about phosphorus is guite low (about 5 kcal/mol), and the PB bond has some double-bond character due to the π -donor bonding.¹⁵² The phosphorus analogue of borazene can be built up from the PB units. The Power group has reported the synthesis of several B_3P_3 rings, the first one (MesBPCy)₃ in 1987.¹⁵³ Those six-membered PB rings substituted with organic groups at boron are planar and have equalized bond lengths. The ¹H NMR signals of the *o*-methyl groups of the mesityl substituents, which occupy a perpendicular position to the ring, are by 0.4-0.7 ppm shifted from those of the *p*-methyl groups¹⁵⁴ in agreement with a ring current effect exerted by the π -system of the B₃P₃ ring.¹⁵⁵ (MesBP^tBu)₃ was reported to form an η^6 -complex with Cr(CO)₃.¹⁵⁶ Quantum chemical calculations were also carried out to estimate the aromaticity of the parent B₃P₃H₆.¹⁵⁵ The calculated structure is nonplanar in the absence of the bulky protecting groups. From the homodesmotic reaction in eq 15, 12.7 kcal/mol stabilization (HF/6-31G(d)) has been obtained (cf. with the 22.1 kcal/mol stabilization for benzene at the same level in the analogous reaction 6, X: CH).¹⁵⁷ The NICS(0) π value was -15.0 (cf. with -20.7 for benzene).²⁹ The decrease of the aromaticity of B₃P₃H₆ in comparison with benzene was attributed to the electronegativity difference of the heteroatoms.¹⁵⁷

$$B_3P_3H_6 + 3H_2PBH_2 \rightarrow 3H_2P(H)B(H)PBH_2 \quad (15)$$

D. Nine-Membered Rings

It has been shown that the opening of the bonding angle at the tricoordinate phosphorus is favorable for the planar structure¹⁰ (cf. with the stabilization of the planar forms of polyphospholes, section IV.B.3). It is thus likely that with increasing ring size, tricoordinate phosphorus will be planarized. Indeed, phosphonin C_8H_9P (24) has a barrier to inversion of 8.9 kcal/mol (B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p)), which is much smaller than that for phosphole (18 kcal/mol at the same level of the theory).¹⁰ The planar phosphonin (24) exhibits equalized bond lengths and thus should be aromatic.¹⁵⁸ 25, the diboro derivative of phosphonindiyl, is planar at the B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p) level and exhibits a NICS(0) value of -15.4 (HF/6-311+G(d,p)).¹⁰



E. Fused Systems

Phosphindolizine (26), a condensed ring system with bridgehead phosphorus, has recently been investigated⁸¹ by ab initio calculations following the synthesis of a benzoanellated (27).¹⁵⁹ 26 is not planar, but the barrier to planarity is only 3.5 kcal/mol at the B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p) level. Even the nonplanar system shows equalized bond lengths (the Bird index is 75 for the six and 66 for the five-membered ring).⁸¹ The NICS(0)_{π} value is -17.8 for the five-membered ring and -13.4 for the six-membered ring. For the planar structure, the NICS(0)_{π} value is -23.5 and -19.1 for the five- and six-membered rings, respectively,⁸¹ indicating a significant delocalization. To estimate the aromatic stabilization, the planarization barriers of **26** and **28** have been compared. The 40 kcal/mol difference in the planarization barriers is about twice the value obtained for the aromatic stabilization of the planar phosphole.⁸¹ It has been expected by analogy to the polyphosphaphospholes^{30,125} that replacing CH units by P in the five-membered ring favors the planar structure.⁸¹ 29 was calculated to be planar and exhibited large aromaticity measures in both the six-membered and five-membered rings (e.g., NICS(0) π was -19.8 and -18.9 for the five- and six-membered rings, respectively).81



Incorporation of tricoordinate phosphorus to three delocalized systems resulted in **30**, a planar compound (B3LYP/6-311+G(d,p)) exhibiting equalized



V. "D"-Type Bonding

A. Comparison of the Bondings in $H_3P=CH_2$ and $HP=CH_2$

The bonding characteristics of phosphorus ylides is a matter of continuos discussion in the literature. This bonding^{1h} is most frequently referred to as ylide,¹⁶⁰ while sometimes the ylene description is also used (Scheme 2). Some characteristics of the λ^{5} -P=C

Scheme 2

H3P⁺-C⁻H2 H3P=CH2

bond (e.g., the PC bond length, ellipticity, electron density at the critical point) are similar to those of the λ^{3} -P=C bond (with "**A**"-type phosphorus). The polarization of the electron distribution increases somewhat in H₃PCH₂ with respect to HPCH₂, however, by far less than one electron.¹⁶¹ Using a simple MO scheme, the bonding characteristics in H₃PCH₂ can easily be compared to those in HP=CH₂.¹⁶¹ The two hydrogens (or other substituents) on phosphorus form a 3-center-4-electron bond by using the phosphorus lone pair. From the three MOs obtained, a doubly occupied one has an appropriate symmetry to overlap with the π -orbitals. Thus, an allyl-like π -system forms in which the contribution of the central phosphorus atom is small. As a consequence, phosphorus is positively charged while the terminal centers, including the carbon atom, are getting negative.¹⁶¹ The allyl-like π -type MOs of H₃PCH₂ are shown in Figure 6. The bonding characteristics of "D"-type phosphorus can thus be related to those of the "Å"-type phosphorus as a double bond to an allyl system, without invoking any valence shell expansion or artificial charge separation. The rotational barrier about the PC bond is very low, since the three substituents on phosphorus provide orbitals of proper symmetry to interact with the p orbital of the $-CH_2$ group at any torsion angle (negative hyperconjugation).¹⁶² Thus, it can be expected that the extended π -systems of "**D**"-type phosphorus can be stabilized by conjugative interactions, including aromaticity.

B. Four-Membered Rings

The four-membered rings are generally considered to be antiaromatic according to Hückel's rule. How large is the perturbation of the antiaromaticity if a CH unit is replaced by P or PR₂ groups? The antiaromatic character of $1\lambda^3, 3\lambda^3$ -diphosphacyclobutadiene is well preserved with unequal bond lengths.^{79,163} Diphosphacyclobutadienes themselves could only be isolated as ligands of a transition metal (e.g., **31**);¹⁶⁴



Figure 6. HF/6-31+G(d)//MP2/6-31+G(d) a"-type MOs of $H_3P=CH_2$ in its planar form.

however, they have been considered as intermediates in many reactions resulting in cage compounds.¹⁶⁵

On the contrary, $1\lambda^5$, $3\lambda^5$ -diphosphacyclobutadienes could be synthesized as stable species.¹⁶⁶ The X-ray structure of 1,1,3,3-tetrakis(dimethylamino)- $1\lambda^5$, $3\lambda^5$ diphosphacyclobutadiene obtained by Fluck et al.¹⁶⁶ exhibited equal PC bond lengths and a planar structure. The planar structure of the parent $1\lambda^5, 3\lambda^5$ diphosphacyclobutadiene is slightly (by 0.4 kcal/mol at MP2/6-31G(d)) above the nonplanar minimum, where the Hs are out of plane. 79 Considering the equal bond lengths alone (Bird index, 100) and the rather short PC distance (1.736 Å at MP2/6-31G(d), similar to the PC distance in phosphinine (3)), high aromaticity can be surmised for these four-membered rings. This presumption was not only in contrast with the expectations, but also with other experimental results as well. By comparing the photoelectron spectra of 1,1,3,3-tetrakis(dimethylamino)- $1\lambda^5$, $3\lambda^5$ diphosphacyclobutadiene with that of 1,1,3,3,5,5hexakis(dimethylamino)- $1\lambda^5$, $3\lambda^5$, $5\lambda^5$ -triphosphinine,¹⁶⁷ a great similarity has been found which is completely unexpected if a six-membered system is compared to a four-membered one.¹⁶⁸ Rationalization of these observations could be given by using the island model of Dewar et al.;¹⁶⁹ however, that model invokes explicitly the d-orbital participation in the bonding that has been shown¹¹¹ to be of little importance according to ab initio calculations. In recent ab

initio works, two different models have been used to describe the bonding. The interrupted cyclic delocalization model considers that the pentavalent phosphorus has no available p orbitals for the π -system; thus, the compounds are zwitterionic with a delocalized negative charge (see structure **32a**).¹⁷⁰ This



model is discussed in recent reviews as well.^{1h,171} (33a was considered as a system "escaping" from antiaromaticity.) An alternative model (represented as 32b),79 which is an expansion of the bonding model developed for the λ^5 -P=C bond,¹⁶¹ also accounts for the alternating charge distribution. The substituents at the pentavalent phosphorus of the λ^5 -P=C bond form an additional π -center with two π -electrons (as discussed in section V.A), resulting in an allyl-like π -system (Figure 6) similar to that of vinylamine. As a result, the carbon center acts as a π -electron donor while the tetracoordinate phosphorus acts as a π -electron acceptor. Thus, the conjugation is of donor-acceptor type or in other words "one-way conjugation" (**32b**).⁷⁹ The electronic structure of the resulting four-membered ring, which is built up from two π -donors (carbon) and two π -acceptors (phosphorus), will be similar to the "electron delocalized-type cyclobutadienes (e.g. 1,3-diamino-cyclobutadienethat's π -system is built up from two vinyl-amine units)".¹⁷¹ This four-membered unsaturated ring has equal bond lengths and cannot be considered as an antiaromatic species. Accordingly, the homodesmotic reaction in eq 16 ($X = PH_2$) resulted in a destabilization of -10.2 kcal/mol (MP2/6-31G(d)) for the ring with pentavalent phosphorus, a value which was significantly less than for the analogue with tricoordinate phosphorus (X = P) at the same level (-40.0kcal/mol). Obviously ring strain has a significant destabilizing effect, which was estimated at 20 kcal/ mol on the basis of eq 17. Thus, the net stabilizing effect in the four-membered $1\lambda^5$, $3\lambda^5$ -diphosphabutadiene ring is about 10 kcal/mol.79

$$\begin{bmatrix} X \\ X = J \end{bmatrix} + 2 CH_2 = XH \implies 2 CH_2 = X-CH = XH$$
(16)
$$\begin{bmatrix} PH_3 \\ H_2P \end{bmatrix} + PH_3 + CH_4 \implies 4 CH_3 - PH_4$$
(17)

C. λ^5 -Phosphinine (33), $1\lambda^5$, $3\lambda^5$, $5\lambda^5$ -Triphosphinine

The generally accepted view about the aromaticity of λ^5 -phosphinines as summarized in the recent book is that " λ^5 -phosphinines are not aromatic but they clearly are highly stable substances exhibiting very little ylidic character".^{1h} In accordance with the description used for the four-membered ring phosphetes and diphosphetes, the resonance structures **33a**-**c** are usually considered to describe the electronic structure.^{1h}

Märkl,¹⁷² who synthesized **34**, has noticed that it behaves like normal ylides (reacting, e.g., in Wittig



reaction). Its unsaturated counterpart **35**, however, was more stable and did not undergo the Wittig reaction. The homodesmotic reaction in eq 6 (X =



PH₂) shows a significant 20.6 kcal/mol stabilization at the MP2/6-31G(d) level for 33, a value which is somewhat less than obtainable from eq 6 for phosphinine (X = P) at the same level of theory (27.2 kcal/ mol).⁷⁹ Also, the lengths of the bonds as well as their alternation is similar for λ^3 - and λ^5 -phosphinines (Table 2).⁷⁹ Bird indexes of λ^5 - and λ^3 -phosphinines were also reported to be similar, albeit the values for the λ^5 -phosphinines are slightly smaller than for their λ^3 -phosphorus-containing counterparts.⁸² The low ionization energy from the photoelectron spectrum¹⁷³ was interpreted⁷⁹ by the MO model, which derives the electronic structure of 33 from that of 3 by a perturbation at the phosphorus center; thus, there is no need to consider¹⁶¹ that the delocalization itself is interrupted at the phosphorus atom. (Recalling the above mentioned analogy between the λ^5 -P=C bond and vinylamine, the π -systems of λ^{3} - and λ^{5} -phosphinines are related to each other as those of benzene and aniline, as it can be seen on the lowering of the corresponding ionization energies as well.) The π -MOs of λ^3 - and λ^5 -phosphinine are shown in Figure 7 for comparison, showing the perturbing effect of the substituting group on phosphorus while leaving the cyclic delocalization basically intact.⁷⁹

It is worth mentioning at this point that the formation of a σ^4 -phosphorus from σ^2 -phosphorus resulted in " σ -aromatic"¹⁷⁴ compounds in the case of the 1*H*-phosphirenium cation as well. Disubstitution at the phosphorus in 1*H*-phosphirenium cation (**5**) resulted in the preservation of aromaticity with proper substituents (fluorine) in **36**, as a result of the interaction with PF₂ σ^* -orbitals,¹⁷⁴ as indicated by isodesmic reactions. A similar phenomenon has been observed also for 1,1-difluorocyclopropene,¹⁷⁵ 1,1-bissilylcyclopentadiene, and 1,1-bisstannylcyclopentadiene. In the latter case, the phenomenon has been called "hyperconjugate aromaticity".¹⁷⁶ The effect of

Table 2. MP2/6-31G(d) Bond Lengths (in Å) for λ^3 - and λ^5 -Phosphinine⁷⁹

C_{γ} C_{β} C_{α}	PC	$C_{\alpha}C_{\beta}$	$C_{\beta}C_{\gamma}$
$\begin{array}{l} X=P\\ X=PH_2 \end{array}$	1.739	1.393	1.396
	1.732	1.390	1.395



Figure 7. HF/6-31+G(d)//MP2/6-31+G(d) occupied π -MOs of λ^{3-} and λ^{5-} phosphinine.

difluoro substitution on the phosphorus of λ^5 - phosphinines (**33**) is to increase the aromaticity.¹⁷⁷



 $1\lambda^5, 3\lambda^5, 5\lambda^5$ -Triphosphinines were also investigated. In the homodesmotic reaction in eq 10 ($X = PH_2$), 21.8 kcal/mol stabilization has been obtained at the MP2/ 6-31G(d) level (cf. with the 26.0 kcal/mol value for $1\lambda^3, 3\lambda^3, 5\lambda^3$ -triphosphinine at the same level of the theory).⁷⁹ This stabilization is in agreement with the cyclic delocalization stabilization resulting from donor-acceptor-type interactions discussed in section V.B.⁷⁹ The 1.707 Å bond length (MP2/6-31G(d)) is somewhat shorter than that for the λ^3 - analogue. However, the calculated structure is not entirely planar;⁷⁹ the hydrogens on the carbon atoms move somewhat out from the plane. The X-ray structure of the heavily substituted 1,1,3,3,5,5-hexakis(dimethylamino)- $1\lambda^5$, $3\lambda^5$, $5\lambda^5$ -triphosphinine was planar.¹⁶⁷ In all cases the PC bond lengths were equal and in the range of the aromatic PC bonds (1.687 Å from the X-ray structure).¹⁶⁷ It is worth noting that no NICS data has been reported for λ^5 -phosphinines as yet.

VI. Outlook

Carbon and nitrogen are the most common elements from the first row of the periodic table to form aromatic compounds, characterized by cyclic electron delocalization. The bonding of these elements in the conjugated systems shows a large variety. Carbon can be a divalent (carbene),⁶⁸ sp² carbon with one π -electron, but also sp³ carbon can be part of hyper-conjugate aromatic systems, provided that it is properly substituted.¹⁷⁶ The pyrrole- and pyridine-type nitrogens also allow the formation of cyclic electron delocalization in a large variety of aromatic systems.

Among the second-row elements, phosphorus, which is below nitrogen and has a diagonal relationship to carbon, has a similarly important role. Phosphorus is able to be a building block of cyclic conjugated systems in several bonding environments either in σ^2 -, λ^3 - (with planarized phosphorus), or σ^4 form ("**A**"-, "**B**"-, or "**C**"-type or "**D**"-type bonding, respectively). While the electronic structure of these phosphorus systems shows high aromaticity and the stabilization energy with respect to the unsaturated analogues is also large, the overall stability of some of these phosphaaromatics is much lower than that of the carbon-containing systems.

The reason for this behavior in the case of the double-bonded structures ("**A**"-type phosphorus) is the easy dimerization of the P=C bond. Tricoordinate planar (or nearly planar) phosphorus ("**B**"- and "**C**"-type bonding) can be stabilized by repyramidalization when the cyclic electron delocalization is disturbed or lost (e.g., in a chemical reaction). The fine balance between these energetic effects cannot easily be predicted by using analogies or other simple models. Such predictions, however, can be made by using the sophisticated methods of computational chemistry, leaving the field of the chemistry of the aromatic phosphorus compounds an interesting research area with unexpected results in the future.

VII. Acknowledgments

The author is highly indebted for continuous support from OTKA Grant Numbers T 026335 and T 019464. The Alexander von Humboldt Foundation and the Volkswagen Foundations are also gratefully acknowledged for financial support. Some of the criticism and suggestions of the referees is also appreciated.

VIII. References

(1) (a) Nixon, J. F. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 1. (b) Mathey, F. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 437. (c) Multiple Bonds and Low Coordination in Phosphorus Chemistry, Regitz, M., Scherer O., Eds., Thiemer Stuttgart, 1990. (d) Mathey, F. J. Organomet. Chem. **1990**, 400, 149. (e) In The Chemistry of Organophosphorus Compounds, Hartley, F., Ed.; John Wiley: Chichester 1990. (f) Handbook of Organophosphorus Chemistry; Engel, R., Ed.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1992. (g) Mathey, F. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **1994**, *137*, 1. (h) Johnson, A. W.; Kaska, W. C.; Ostoja Starzewski, K. A.; Dixon, D. A. *Ylides and Imines of Phosphorus*; John Wiley and Sons: New York: 1993. (i) For ³¹P NMR data, see: *Phosphorus*-31 NMR spectroscopy in Stereochemical Analysis; Verkade, J., Quin, L. D., Eds.; VCH: New York, 1994. (j) Nixon, J. F. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1995, 145, 201. (k) Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Pergamon: New York, 1996. Quin, L. D. Phospholes. In Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chem*istry II*; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Pergamon: New York, 1996; Vol. 2, p 757. Schmidpeter, A. Five-membered Rings with two Adjacent Heteroatoms with at least One Phosphorus, Arsenic or Antimony. In Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Pergamon: New York, 1996; Vol. 3, p 709. Schmidpeter, A. Five-membered Rings with two Nonadjacent Heteroatoms with at least One Phosphorus, Arsenic or Antimony. In Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Pergamon: New York, 1996; Vol. 3, p 715. Schmidpeter, A. Five-membered Rings with Three or Four Heteroatoms with at least One Phosphorus. In *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II*; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Pergamon: New York, 1996; Vol. 4, p 772. Hewitt, D. G. Six-membered Rings with One Phosphorus atom. In *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II*; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Pergamon: New York, 1996; Vol. 5, p 640. Märkl, G.; Kreitmeier, P. Six-membered Rings with Two or More Heteroatoms with at least one Phosphorus. In Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R., Ed.; Pergamon: New

York, 1996; Vol. 6, p 1019. (l) Dillon, K. B.; Mathey, F.; Nixon, J. F. *Phosphorus the Carbon Copy*, John Wiley and Sons: Chichester, 1998. (m) Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **1998**, 37, 270. (n) Power, P. P. *Chem. Rev.* **1999**, *99*, 3463. (o) Quin, L. D. A Guide to Organophosphorus Chemistry, John Wiley: New York, 2000.

- (2) Early calculations (Pitzer, K. S. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1948**, *70*, 2140) are usually mentioned in connection with the double-bond rule, predicting a small overlap due to the diffuse orbitals of the heavy atoms from the second or lower long row of the periodic table

- Märkl, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1966, 5, 846.
 Schmidt, M. W.; Gordon, M. S. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 248.
 Schmidt, M. W.; Truong, P.; Gordon, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5217. Schleyer, P. v. R.; Kost, D. M. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 2105.
- (6)Feller, D.; Davidson, E. R.; Borden, W. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1985**, 107, 2596.
- (7)Märkl, G. λ^3 -phosphinines, Aza- λ^3 -phosphinines, and λ^3, λ^3 diphosphinines in ref 2, p 220.
- (8) Schwerdtfeger, P.; Laakkonen, L.; Pyykkö, P. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, *96*, 6807.
- Egan, W.; Tang, R.; Zon, G.; Mislow, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, (9)*93*, 6205.
- (10) Nyulászi, L. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 79.
- Deschamps, B.; Mathey, F. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1985**, *26*, 4595.
 See, e.g.: Glukhotsev, M. N.; Laiter, S.; Pross, A. J. Phys. Chem. **1996**, *100*, 17801.
- (13)Laali, K. K.; Geissler, B.; Wagner, O.; Hoffmann, J.; Armbrust, R.; Eisfeld, W.; Regitz, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 9407.
- (14) Avent, A.; Cloke, F. G. N.; Kevin, R. F.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F.; Vickers, D. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1994**, *33*, 2330.
- Maclagan, G. A. R. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1989**, *163*, 349. Largo, A.; Barrientos, C.; Lopez, X.; Cossio, F.; Uglade, J. M. J. Phys. Chem. (15)1995, *99*, 6432.
- (16) Eisfeld, W.; Regitz, M. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 2814.
- Curtis, L. A.; Raghavachari, K.; Trucks, G. W.; Pople, J. A. J. (17)Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 7221.
- (18) Simon, J.; Bergsträsser, U.; Regitz, M.; Laali, K. K. Organometallics 1999, 18, 817.
- Nyulászi, L. Manuscript in preparation. (19)
- (20) Reference 1l, p 227.
- (21) Baudler, M.; Etzbach, T. Chem. Ber. 1991, 124, 1159.
- (22) Douglas, T.; Theopold, K. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1989, *28*. Ĭ367 (23) Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F.; Wilson, D. J.
- Organometallics 2000, 19, 219.
- (24) Nixon, J. F. Personal communication. Also mentioned in ref 1 p (24) NIXOII, J. F. FEISDIAL COMMUNICATION, TWO INSTRUCTS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS

- 1996, 15, 1755.
- (28)Schleyer, P. v. R.; Maerker, C.; Dransfeld, A.; Jiao, H.; van Eikemma Hommes, N. J. R. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1996**, *118*, 6317. Schleyer, P. v. R.; Jiao, H.; van Eikema Hommes, N. J. R.;
- (29)Malkin, V. G.; Malkina, O. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 12669
- (30) Dransfeld, A.; Nyulászi, L.; Schleyer, P. v. R. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 4413.
- (31) Mathey, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1976, 46, 4155.
- Scherer, O. J.; Schwalb, J.; Wolmershäuser, G.; Kaim, W.; Gross, (32)R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1986**, 25, 363. (33) Blom, R.; Brück, Th.; Scherer, O. J. Acta Chem. Scand. **1989**,
- 43, 458.
- (34)Schmidpeter, A.; Karaghiosoff, K. Azaphospholes. In Rings, Clusters and Polymers of Main Group and Transition Elements; Roesky, H. W., Ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam 1989
- Schmidpeter, A.; Karaghiosoff, K. Heterophospholes. Multiple (35)Bonds and Low Coordination in Phosphorus Chemistry; Regitz, M., Scherer O., Eds.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 1990; p 258.
- (36) Heinicke, J. Trends Organomet. Chem. 1994, 1, 307.
- (37)Weinmaier, J. H.; Luber, J.; Schmidpeter, A.; Pohl, S. Angew. Chem. 1979, 91, 442.
- Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F.; Wilson, D. J.; Tabellion, F.; Fischbeck, U.; Preuss, F.; Regitz, M.; Nyulászi, L. *Chem. Commun.* **1999**, 2363. (38)
- (39) Charrier, C.; Maigrot, N.; Ricard, L.; LeFloch, P.; Mathey, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 2133.
 (40) Bird, C. W. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 1409.
 (41) Nyulászi, L.; Várnai, P.; Veszprémi, T. J. Mol. Struct. (THEOCHEM)
- 1995, 358, 55.
- (42) Nyulászi, L.; Csonka, G.; Réffy, J.; Veszprémi, T.; Heinicke, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 373, 49.
- Veszprémi, T.; Nyulászi, L.; Réffy, J.; Heinicke, J. J. Chem. Phys. (43) 1992, 96, 623.
- (44) Nyulászi, L.; Veszprémi, T. J. Mol. Struct. 1995, 347, 57.
 (45) Hehre, W. J.; Ditchfield, R.; Radom, L.; Pople, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 4896.

- *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1992**, *114*, 9080. (47) Nyulászi, L.; Veszprémi, T.; Réffy, J. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1993**, *97*, 4Ŏ11.
- (48) Koopmans, T. Z. Phys. 1934, 1, 104.
- (49) Gonbeau, D.; Pfister-Guillouzo, G.; Barrans, J. Palmer, M. H. *Chem. Phys.* **1985**, *95*, 243.
- (50) In a homodesmotic reaction, structural elements in reactants and products match, not only according to the number of carbon-carbon and carbon-heteroatom bonds, but also accord-ing to the number of hydrogens bound to each carbon and heteroatom. See: George, P.; Tratchman, M.; Bock, C. W.; Brett, A. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1976, 1222.
- (51) In ref 41, the double-bond character was obtained from the bond length on a linear scale comparing the bond lengths of the simplest single- and double-bonded molecules at the same level of the theory. BDSHRT is obtained as the average of Gordy bond orders, obtainable by a quadratic scaling. See: Gordy, W. J. Phys. Chem. 1947, 15, 305.
- (52) Heinicke, J.; Tzschach, Z. Z. Chem. 1980, 20, 342.
- Mack, A.; Bergsträsser, Reiss, G. J.; Regitz, M. Eur. J. Org. (53)Chem. 1999, 587.
- (54) Issleib, K.; Vollmer, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1980, 21, 3483.
- (55) Ashe, A. J., III; Fang, X. *Chem. Commun.* **1999**, 1283.
 (56) Fringuelli, F.; Marino, G.; Tattichi, A.; Grandolini, G. *J. Chem.*
- Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 **1974**, 332. (57) Nyulászi, L.; Várnai, P.; Krill, S.; Regitz, M. J. Chem. Soc.,
- Perkin Trans. 2 1995, 315. Ashe, A. J., III; Fang, X.; Schiesher, M.; Richardson, A. D.; (58)
- Hedberg, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7012. (59)
- d'Arbeloff-Wilson, S. E.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Krill, S.; Nixon, J. F.;
- Nyulászi, L. Regitz, M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 4557. Francis, M. D.; Hibbs, D. E.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Hursthouse, M. B.; Jones, C.; Mackewitz, T.; Nixon, J. F.; Nyulászi, L.; Regitz, (60)M.; Sakarya, N. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 580, 156
- (61) Arduengo, A. J., III; Harlow, R. L.; Kline, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 361.
- Denk, M.; Lennon, R.; Hayashi, R.; West, R.; Belyakov, A. V.; (62)Haaland, A.; Wagner, M.; Metzler, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2691.
- (63) Denk, M.; Gupta, S.; Ramachandran, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37 9025
- (64) Carmalt, C. J.; Lomeli, V.; McBurnett, B. G.; Cowley, A. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1997, 2095.
- (65) Denk, M.; Gupta, S., Lough, A. J. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 41, 1.
- (66)
- Sauers, R. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 2357
 (a) Gudat, D. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 1087, 7. (b) Gudat, D.;
 Haghverdi, A.; Hupfer, H.; Nieger, M. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 3414. (c) Gudat, D.; Haghverdi, A.; Nieger, M. Angew. Chem., (67)
- (68) Heinemann, C.; Müller, T.; Apeloig, Y.; Schwarz, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2023. Böhme, C.; Frenking, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2039. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2019. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2019. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2019. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1996, 118, 2019. Blakeman, P.; Gerhus, B.; Green, Soc. 1990, 1990, 1990, 1990, 1990, 1 J. C.; Heinicke, J.; Lappert, M.; Kinderman, M.; Veszprémi,
 T. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 1475. Nyulászi, L.;
 Veszprémi, T. J. Chem. Phys. 1996, 100, 6262. Gaspar, P. P.;
 West, R. Silylenes. In The Chemistry of Silicon Compounds;
 Rappaport, Z., Apeloig, Y., Eds.; John Wiley: New York, 1998.
 Nyulászi, L.; Veszprémi, T. Silylenes. In The Encyclopedia of Computational Chemistry Schlaver, P. y. E. Ed.; John Wiley: Computational Chemistry; Schleyer, P. v. R., Ed.; John Wiley: New York, 1998. West, R.; Buffy, J. J.; Haaf, M.; Müller, T.; Gehrhus, B.; Lappert, M. F.; Apeloig, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120. 1639.
- (69) Ashe, A. J., III J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 3293.
- Ashe, A. J., III Acc. Chem. Res. 1978, 11, 153. (70)
- Wong, T. C.; Bartell, S. J. Chem. Phys. 1974, 61, 2840. (71)
- Wong, T. C.; Ashe, A. J., III; Bartell, S. J. Mol. Struct. 1975, 25, (72)
- (73) Baldridge, K. K.; Gordon, M. S.; J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4204
- (74) Bock, C. W.; Tratchman, M.; George, P. Struct. Chem. 1990, 1, 345.
- Jonas, V.; Frenking, G. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1993, 210, 211. (75)
- (76)
- (77)
- Nyulászi, L.; Keglevich, Gy. *Heteroat. Chem.* **1994**, *5*, 131. Chesnut, D. B. *J. Comput. Chem.* **1995**, *16*, 1227. Nyulászi, L.; Szieberth, D.; Veszprémi, T. *J. Org. Chem.* **1995**, (78) 60. 1647.
- Nyulászi, L.; Veszprémi, T. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 6456.
- (80) Frison, G.; Sevin, A.; Avarvari, N.; Mathey, F.; LeFloch, P. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 5524.
- Nyulászi, L.; Bergsträsser, U.; Regitz, M.; Schlever, P. v. R. New (81) J. Chem. 1998, 651.
- (82) Bird, C. W. *Tetrahedron* 1990, 46, 5697.
 (83) Hess, B. A., Jr.; Schaad, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 7500.
- Nyulászi, L. Unpublished result. (84)
- Chesnut, D. B.; Davis, K. M. J. Comput. Chem. 1997, 18, 584. (85)
- Ashe, A. J., III Tetrahedron Lett. 1976, 415. Ashe, A. J., III; (86)Sharp, R. R.; Tolan, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 5451.

- (87) Märkl, G.; Lieb, F. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1968, 7, 733. Ashe, A. J., III; Gordon, M. D. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1972**, *94*, 7596. (88) Elschenbroich, Ch.; Kroker, J.; Massa, W.; Wünsch, Ashe, A. J.,
- III Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1986**, *25*, 571. Deberitz, J.; Nöth, H. Chem. Ber. **1970**, *103*, 2541.
- (89)
- (90) Märkl, G.; Matthes, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1972, 11, 1019
- (91) Märkl, G.; Dorfmeister, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1987, *28*, 1093. Märkl, G.; Dörges, C., Riedel, T.; Klärner, F.-G.; Lodwig, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1990, *31*, 4589.
 (92) Avarvari, N.; LeFloch, P.; Mathey, F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1996,
- *118*, 11978.
- (93)Kobayashi, Y.; Kumadaki, J.; Ohsawa, A.; Hamana, W. Tetra-(93) Kubayashi, T., Kuhadaki, S., Ohsawa, A., Hahana, M. 1997
 (94) Böhm, D.; Knoch, F.; Kummer, S.; Schmidt, U.; Zenneck, U.
- Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1995**, *34*, 198. (95) Binger, P.; Leininger, S.; Stannek, J.; Gabor, B.; Mynott, R.;
- Bruckmann, J.; Krüger, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34. 2227
- Gleiter, R.; Lange, H.; Binger, P.; Stannek, J.; Krüger, C.; Bruckmann, J.; Zenneck, U.; Kummer, S. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* (96) 1998, 1619.
- (97) Howell, J. O.; Gonclaves, J. M.; Amatore, C.; Klasinc., L.; Wightmann, R. M.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 3968
- (98) Bachrach, S. M.; Magdalinos, P. J. Mol. Struct (THEOCHEM) 1996, 368, 21
- (99) Hofmann, M.; Schleyer, P. v. R.; Regitz, M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 3291.
- Colombet, L.; Volatron, F.; Maitre, P.; Hiberty, P. C. J. Am. (100)*Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 4215. (101) Hofmann, M. A.; Bergsträ β er, U.; Rei β , G. J.; Nyulászi, L.;
- Regitz, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 1261. Glukhotsev, M. N.; Schleyer, P. v. R. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1992,
- (102)198.547
- (103) Janoschek, R. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 2121.
- Nagase, S.; Ito, K. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1986, 126, 43. Warren, D. (104)S.; Gimrac, B. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5378.
- (105) Scherer, O. J.; Sitzmann, H.; Wolmerhäuser, G. Angew. Chem., *Int. Ed. Engl.* **1985**, *24*, 351. (106) de Koe, P.; Bicklehaupt, F. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1968**,
- 7 889
- (107) Bergsträsser, U.; Stannek, J.; Regitz, M. Chem. Commun. 1994, 1121.
- (108)Lamande, L.; Dillon, K.; Wolf, R.; Phosphorus Sulfur Silicon 1995, 103, 1.
- (109) Schoeller, W. W.; Lerch, C. *Inorg. Chem.* **1986**, *25*, 576.
 (110) Schoeller, W. W. Bonding properties of Low Coordinate Phosphorus Compounds. *Multiple Bonds and Low Coordination in Phosphorus Chemistry*, Regitz, M., Scherer O., Eds.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 1990; p 5.
- (111) It has been shown that d orbital participation is not necessarily (111) It has been shown that d orbital participation is not necessarily needed for the description of the bonding in hypervalent molecules. According to high-level ab initio calculations, d orbitals are not involved in the bonding of hypervalent systems. See: Reed, A. E.; Schleyer, P. v. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1434. Magnusson, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1051.
 (112) Nyulászi, L.; Belghazi, A.; Kis Szétsi, S.; Veszprémi, T.; Heinicke, J. J. Mol. Struct. (THEOCHEM) 1994, 313, 73.
 (113) Kapp, J.; Schade, C.; El-Nahasa, A. M.; Schleyer, P. v. R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 2236.
 (114) See, e.g.: Levin, C. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 5649.
 (115) It has been discussed (Regitz, M. Angew. Chem. 1996, 35, 725) whether R₂PCR' should be considered as phosphinocarbene or

- whether R₂PCR' should be considered as phosphinocarbene or phosphaacetylene >P-C- or >P=C- (with pentavalent) phospharcetylene >P-C- or >P=C- (with pentavalent) phosphorus. While the planar (Nguyen, M. T.; McGinn, M. A.; Hegarty, A. F. *Inorg. Chem.* **1986**, *25*, 2185) H₂PCH shows carbene characteristics (Nyulászi, L.; Szieberth, D.; Veszprémi, The bell of the generation of the planar (Nguyen) and the second statement of the planar (Nguyen) and the second s T. J. Mol. Struct. (THEOCHEM) 1998, 453, 91), the substitued derivative ((¹Pr₂N)₂PCSiMe₃) synthesized (Igau, A.; Grützmacher, H.; Baceiredo, A.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 8782) has a pronounced triple-bond character. (Pr2N)2-PCSiMe₃) can also be considered as a push-pull carbene. Bourissou, D.; Guerret, O.; Gabbai, F. P.; Bertrand, G. *Chem.* Rev. 2000, 100, 39.
- (116) Schade, C.; Schleyer, P. v. R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1399. Coolidge, M. B.; Borden, W. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 1704. Allen, T. N.; Scheiner, A. C.; Schaefer, H. F.,
- III Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1930.
 (117) Niecke, E.; Fuchs, A.; Nieger, M.; Schoeller, W. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 555.
- (118) Niecke, E.; Fuchs, A.; Nieger, M.; Schmidt, O.; Schoeller, W. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 3031.
 (119) Wittig and Geissler (Wittig, G.; Geissler, G. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1953, 580, 44) reported the synthesis of a fused phosphole. A weichle synthesis for phosphole and back heap developed by Ouin A reliable synthesis for phospholes has been developed by Quin and Bryson (Quin, L. D.; Bryson, J. G. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1967**, *89*, 5984) and Mathey (Mathey, F. *C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. C* **1969**, *269*, 1066). Also, the method of Märkl and Potthast (Märkl, G.;

Potthast, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1967, 6, 86) is often used. The parent C₄H₅P was synthesized in 1983 (Charrier, C.; Bonnard, H.; de Lauzon, G.; Mathey, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1983**, 105, 6871.)

- (120) Hughes, A. N. Phospholes and Related Compounds. In Handbook of Organophosphorus Chemistry, Engel, R., Ed.; Marcel Dek-ker: New York, 1992.
- (121) Quin, L. D.; Hughes, A. N. Cyclic Phosphines. In *The Chemistry* of Organophosphorus Compounds; Hartley, F., Ed.; John (12) Coggon, P.; Engel, J. F.; McPhail, A. T.; Quin, L. D. *J. Am. Chem.*
- Soc. 1970, 92, 5779.
- (123)Andose, J. D.; Rauk, A.; Mislow, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 6904
- (124)Schleyer, P. v. R.; Freeman, P. K.; Jiao, H.; Goldfuss, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 337. Nyulászi, L. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 6194.
- (125)
- (126)Schäfer, W.; Schweig, A.; Mathey, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 407.
- (127)Charrier, C.; Mathey, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 5025.
- (128) Hughes, A. N. Heterocycles 1992, 33, 563.
- (129) Nyulászi, L. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 586.
- (130) Delare, D.; Dransfeld, A.; Nguyen, M. T. Vanquickenborne, L. G. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 63, 2631.
 (131) Schmidpeter, A.; Thiele, M. Angew. Chem. 1991, 103, 333.
 (132) Holderberg, A. W.; Schrödel, G.; Gudat, D.; Schrödel, H.-P.; Schmidpeter, A. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 57.
 (132) Licham C. & Nith U. Schrödel, A. Chem. Ban 1006, 120.

- (133) Jochem, G.; Nöth, H.; Schmidpeter, A. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 1083.
- (134)Quin, L. D.; Keglevich, Gy.; Ionkin, A. S.; Kalgutkar, R. Szalontai, G. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 7801
- (135) Nyulászi, L.; Keglevich, Gy.; Quin, L. D. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 7808.
- (136) Keglevich, Gy.; Böcskei, Zs.; Keserü, Gy.; Ujszászi, K.; Quin, L. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5095
- (137) Keglevich, Gy.; Chuluunbaatar, T.; Dajka, B.; Dobó, A.; Szöllosy, Á.; Töke, L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 2895.
- (138) Nyulászi, L.; Soós, L.; Keglevich, Gy. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 5*66,* 29.
- (139) Keglevich, Gy.; Trecska. M.; Dajka, B.; Pete, B.; Dobó, A.; Töke, L. *Heteroat. Chem.* 2000, *11*, 271.
 (140) Nyulászi, L.; Veszprémi, T. *Phosphorus Sulfur Silicon* 1996,
- 109-110, 109.
- (141) Nyulászi, L.; Csonka, G.; Réffy, J.; Veszprémi, T.; Heinicke, J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 373, 57.
 (142) Glukhotsev, M. N.; Dransfeld, A.; Schleyer, P. v. R. J. Phys.

- (142) Gruthister, M. W. Dranstell, A., Schleger, T. V. R. S. 1193. *Chem.* 1996, 100, 13447.
 (143) Nyulászi, L. *Inorg. Chem.* 1996, 35, 4690.
 (144) Baudler, M.; Akpapoglou, S.; Ouzounis, D.; Wasgestian, F.; Meinigke, B.; Budzikiewitz, H.; Münster, H. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1988**, *27*, 280. (145) Caliman, V.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem.*
- Commun. 1996, 2751.
- (146) Caliman, V.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Nixon, J. F.; Nyulászi, L.; Sakarya, N. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1997, 1305.
 (147) Cloke, F. G. N.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Hunnable, P.; Nixon, J. F.; Nyulászi, L.; Niecke, E.; Thelen, V. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 1400 (2014) 37, 1083
- (148)
- (149)
- Nyulászi, L.; Nixon, J. F. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1999**, *373*, 57. Schoeller, W. W. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2000**, 369. Nyulászi, L.; Forró, A.; Veszprémi, T. *PCCP* **2000**, 3127. *G* is (150)Gibbs free energy at 298 K.
- (151) Lohr, L. L.; Schlegel, H. B.; Morokuma, K. J. Phys. Chem. 1984, *88*. 1981.
- Schade, C.; Schleyer, P. v. R. *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.* **1987**, 1399. Coolidge, M. B.; Borden, W. T. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1990**, *112*, 1704. Allen, T. N.; Schreiner, A. C.; Schaefer, H. F., (152)III Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1930. Pestana, D.; Power, P. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 8426. See also in ref 1n.
- (153) Dias, R. H. V.; Power, P. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1987, 26, 1270
- (154) Power, P. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 449.
 (155) Paine, R. T.; Nöth, H. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 343. Brothers, P. J.; Power, P. P. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 39, 1.
- (156) Kaufmann, B.; Metzler, N.; Nöth, H.; Paine, R. T. Chem. Ber. 1994, *127*, 825
- Power, P. P.; Moezzi, A.; Pestana, D. C.; Petrie, M. A.; Shorner, (157)S. C.; Waggoner, K. M. Pure. Appl. Chem. 1991, 63, 859. Fink,
 W. H.; Richards, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 3393.
 Matsunaga, N.; Cundari, T. R.; Schmidt, M. W.; Gordon, M. S. Theor. Chim. Acta 1992, 83, 57.
- (158) Schleyer, P. v. R.; Kárpáti, T.; Nyulászi, L. Manuscript in preparation.
- (159)Bergsträsser, U.; Regitz, M. Manuscript in preparation.
- (160) It has been argued for the ylide structure on the basis of NMR data. See: Yamamoto, Y.; Schmidbaur, H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1975, 668. A recent electron localization function study also argues for the ylidic structure. See: Chesnut, D. B. Heteroat. Chem. 2000, 11, 341.

- 1246 Chemical Reviews, 2001, Vol. 101, No. 5
- (161) Nyulászi, L.; Veszprémi, T.; Réffy, J. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 10142.
- (162) Grützmacher, H.; Pritzkow, H. Angew. Chem. 1992, 104, 92.
- (163) Schoeller, W. W.; Busch, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, *32*, 617.
- (164) Hitchcock, P. B.; Maah, M. J.; Nixon, J. F. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 737. Binger, P.; Milczarek, R.; Mynott, R.; Regitz, M.; Rösch, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 644.
- (165) Streubel, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 436.
- (166) Appel, R.; Knoll, F.; Wihler, A. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1977, 16, 402. Svara, J.; Fluck, E.; Riffel, H. Z. Z. Naturforsch. B 1985, 40, 1258. Neumüller, B.; Fluck, E. Phosphorus Sulfur 1986, 29, 23. Keller, H.; Maas, G.; Regitz, M. Tetrahedron Lett. **1986**, *27*, 1903.
- (167) Veszprémi, T.; Gleiter, R.; Fluck, E.; Svara, J.; Neumüller, B. Chem. Ber. 1989, 121, 2071.
- (168) Veszprémi, T.; Nyulászi, L.; Várnai, P.; Réffy, J. Acta Chim. Hung. 1993, 130, 691.
- (169) Dewar, M. J. S.; Lucken, E. A: C.; Whitehead, M. A. J. Chem. Soc. 1960, 2423.

- (170) Alcaraz, G.; Baceiredo, A.; Nieger, M.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. *Inorg. Chem.* **1996**, *35*, 2458.
 (171) Fukui, K.; Inagaki, S. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1975**, *97*, 445. Inagaki, S.; Fujimoto, H. Fukui, K. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1976**, *98*, 4693. Inagaki, S.; Hirabayashi, Y. *Chem. Lett.* **1982**, 709. Inagaki, S.; Iwase, K.; Kawata, H. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1985**, *58*, 601.
 (172) Märkl, G. *Angew. Chem.* **1963**, *2*, 153.
 (173) Schweig, A.; Schäfer, W.; Dimroth, K. *Angew. Chem.* **1972**, *84*, 636. Schweig, A.; Schäfer, W.; Märkl, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1973**, *39*, 3743.
- 39, 3743.
- (174) Göller, A.; Heydt, H.; Clark, T. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 5840.
- Wiberg, K. B.; Marquez, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, *120*, 2932. Skancke, A.; Hrovat, D. A.; Thatcher Borden, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, *120*, 7079. (175)
- (176) Nyulászi, L.; Schleyer, P. v. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6**8**72.
- (177) Schleyer, P. v. R. Personal communication.
- (178) All figures were made by the MOLDEN program. See: Schaftenaar, G. MOLDEN 2.5; Caos/CAMM Center: Nijmengen, The Netherlands, 1994.

CR990321X